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288 AGRICULTURAL MARKETING AGREEMENT ACT

MISCELLANEOUS ORDERS

In re: CAL-ALMOND, INC., GOLD HILLS NUT COMPANY, INC., and
FRAZIER NUT FARMS, INC.
94 AMA Docket No. F&V 981-1 and

In re: DEL RIO NUT COMPANY and MONTE VISTA FARMING
COMPANY.
94 AMA Docket No. F&V 981-3 and

In re: BAL NUT, INC., CARLSON FARMS, CENTRAL VALLEY
GROWER PACKING, HOCKER NUT FARM, JARDINE ORGANIC
RANCH, and ROTrEVEEL ORCHARDS.
94 AMA Docket No. F&V 981-4 and

In re: TREEHOUSE FARMS, INC.
94 AMA Docket No. F&V 981-5 and

In re: THERON SHAMGOCHIAN, INC., d/b/a MONTE CRISTO
PACKING COMPANY, FORMERLY KNOWN AS MONTE CRISTO
PACKING COMPANY and THERON SHAMGOCHIAN RANCHES, INC.,
d/b/a MONTE CRISTO PACKING COMPANY, BUT KNOWN ALWAYS
TO THE ALMOND BOARD FOR THE SUBJECT CROP YEARS AS

MONTE CRISTO PACKING COMPANY; BEARD'S QUALITY
COMPANY, A SOLE PROPRIETORSHIP; and AMARETrO
ORCHARDS, A CALIFORNIA GENERAL PARTNERSHIP.
94 AMA Docket No. F&V 981-7.

Order to Show Cause filed May 15, 1996.

Gregory Cooper, for Respondent.

Julian B. Heron, Washington, D.C.; Jeffrey A. LeVee, Los Angeles, California; Brian C. Leighton,
Clovis, California; Ronald W. Hillberg, Turlock, California, for Petitioners.

Initial decision issued by Victor W. Palmer, Chief Administrative Law Judge.
Order issued by William G. Jenson, Judicial OJ_cer.

An examination of the Chief ALI's Decision and Order and the appellate
pleadings filed in the consolidated proceeding, sub judice, reveals that any
decision by the Judicial Officer herein would have to be based upon the same
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First Amendment/commercialfree speech issues thatare still being litigated in
the consolidatedWilemanI andthe consolidatedCal-Almon_ proceedings.

On January24, 1996, the SolicitorGeneral of the United States, on behalf
of the Secretary of Agriculture, filed the attached Petition for a Writ of
Certiorari in the Supreme Court of the United States seeking review of the
United States Court of Appeals for the Ninth Circuit'sjudgment in Wileman.
Moreover, I have been informedthatthe Departmentwill likely requestthat the
Solicitor General file a petition for a writof certiorari regarding Cal-Almond.
Consequently, I am issuing this Order for the parties in the proceeding, sub
judice, to show cause why I shouldnot forestall my Decision and Orderherein,
and await the outcomeof proceedingsfor judicial review of Wileman and Cal-
Almond.

Therefore, the parties herein shall, within 30 days from the service of this
Order to Show Cause, file with the Hearing Clerk any cause showing why I
shouldnot awaitthe outcomeof proceedingsfor judicial review of Wileman and
Cal-Almond before issuing a Decision and Order in the instantcase.

'InreWileman Bros. & Elliott, Inc. (Wileman I), 49 Agric. Dec. 705 (1990), and In re Wileman

Bros. & Elliott, Inc. OCileman II), 50 Agile. Dec. 1165 (1991), aJ_d, No. CV-F-90-473-OWW

(E.D. Cal. Jan. 27, 1993) (In re Asakawa Farms, 50 Agric. Dec. 1144 (1991), appeal docketed sub
nom. Asakawa Farms, et al. v. Madigan, CV-F-91-686-OWW (E.D. Cal. 1991); and In re Gerawan

Co. (Gerawan 1), 50 Agric. Dee. 1338 (1991), and In re Gerawan Co. (Gerawan II), 50 Agric.
Dee. 1363 (1991), consolidated with CV-F-90-473-OWW(E.D. Cal. Sept. 14, 1993)), aff'd inpart,
rev'din part & remanded, 58 F.3d 1367 (gth Cir. 1995),petition for cert. filed, 64 U.S.L.W. 3519
(U.S. Jan. 24, 1996) (No. 95-1184),petition for cert. filed, 64 U.S.L.W. 3605 (U.S. Feb. 26, 1996)
(No. 95-1393).

2In re Saulsbury Orchards & Almond Processing, Inc., 50 Agde. Dec. 23 (1991), aff'd sub nora.
Cal-Almond, Inc. v. USDA, No. CV-F-91-064-REC(E.D. Cal. June 3, 1992),printedin 51 Agile.
Dec. 44 (1992); In re Cal-Almond, Inc., 50 Agile. Dec. 171 (1991), aft'd, No. CV-F-91-122-REC
(E.D. Cal. June 3, 1992), printed in 51 Agric. Dee. 79 (1992); In re Cal-Almond, Inc., 50 Agile.
Dec. 183 (1991), aft'd, No. CV-F-91-123-REC (E.D. Cal. June 3, 1992), printed in 51 Agile.

Dec. 85 (1992); In re Cal-Almond, Inc., 50 Agile. Dec. 1445 (1991), aff_d, No.
CV-F-91-685-REC (E.D. Cal. July 8, 1992), aff'd in part, rev'd in part & remanded, 14 F.3d 429
(9th Cir. 1993),final order and judgment on remand, No. CV-F-91-O64-REC (E.D. Cal. Sept. 6,
1994), aff'd in part & rev'd in part, 67 F.3d 874 (9th Cir. 1995), reh "gdenied, Nos. 94-17160, 94-
17163, 94-17164, 94-17166, 94-17167, 94-17182 (9th Cir. Feb. 20, 1996).
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In re: MIDWAY FARMS, INC., A CALIFORNIA CORPORATION.
94 AMP, Docket No. F&V 989-I.

Dismissal of Petition filed May 10, 1996.

ShadeneA. Deskins,forRespondent.
BrianC. Leighton,Clovis,Ca.,for Petitioner.
Orderissuedby VictorW. Palmer,ChiefAdministrativeLaw Judge.

The issue is this case is whether Petitioner is a first handler subject to
assessments under the Raisin Marketing Order for "junk raisins" it has handled.

The dispositive evidence on this issue consists of the records of Petitioner's

purchases and sales of raisins.
If as the Petitioner alleges, Petitioner's records show it not to be a first

handler because it sold its raisins to outlets to which assessments are not

intended to attach, Petitioner would be exempt from monetary obligations under
the Raisin Marketing Order. But for that determination to be made, Petitioner's

records need be produced for inspection. Petitioner is fearful that proprietary
information respecting the comparative price,s it pays and receives, and the
identities of those who buy "junk raisins," will become a matter of public
knowledge if it is compelled to produce these documents in an unredacted form.
If that were to happen Petitioner states its now profitable "niche" business would
probably be lost.

For that reason, Petitioner has requested that only redacted copies of its
records be made part of the public record and that the unredacted originals be
examined in camera. Unfortunately, the records are voluminous and require

some expertise to properly understand them. Therefore, I have been seeking an
agreement between the parties as to a suitable trustworthy person who would act
as my agent to undertake the in camera inspection. Respondent wants one of
its inspectors to perform this review. Petitioner does not believe the suggested
inspector would keep the information completely confidential and has instead
suggested Terry Stark, the manager of the Raisin Committee. I believe he
would be a reasonable choice and made that part of my Summary of

Teleconference of April 30, 1996.
However, Respondent has since advised that Mr. Stark is neither available

nor inclined to perform this task. Respondent also challenges my authority to
require an in camera inspection and has asked that the question be certified
instead to the Judicial Officer for his ruling.

The present posture of this case and the predicaments confronting both
Petitioner and Respondent are unique. Respondent cannot determine whether
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or not Petitioner is violating the Raisin Marketing Order and hence the Act,

without reviewing its records. Petitioner is fearful its business will evaporate
if the proprietary information contained within the records becomes public.

By filing this administrative petition under 7 U.S.C. § 608C(15)(A),
Petitioner has tolled the civil penalties which might be assessed if an
administrative action is filed against it pursuant to 7 U.S.C. § 608c(14)(B),
Secondly, Petitioner anticipates that should an injunctive action be initiated
against it in a federal district court under 7 U.S.C. § 608a(6), to compel the
turnover of its records, it might not be permitted to defend on the ground that
its activities are not covered by the Act and the Raisin Marketing Order because
it did not first exhaust an available administrative remedy for determining the
issue.

For these reasons, I have allowed this case to go forward. But upon
reflection, a United States District Court Judge has the requisite powers that I
lack to properly supervise an appropriate in camera inspection. Therefore, I am

dismissing the petition without prejudice on the technical grounds that Petitioner
has not and, without producing its records, cannot show itself to be a handler
subject to the Act as 7 U.S.C. § 608c(15)(A) requires. Inasmuch as no action
is presently pending against Petitioner for violation of the Act or the Raisin
Marketing Order, this ruling causes it no harm. Should Respondent initiate a
proceeding in a United States District Court to obtain Petitioner's records,

Petitioner will be able to demonstrate by this ruling why an appropriate in
camera inspection need be conducted under the District Court's auspices in
exercise of its extensive powers which I do not possess. The power, for
example, to dismiss the government action or otherwise sanction it, if the
government refuses to accept the conditions prescribed for an in camera

inspection. Moreover, inasmuch as the petition was filed as required by 7
U.S.C. § 608c(14)(B) and was dismissed on the technical grounds advanced by
Respondent's two Motions to Dismiss, civil penalties against Petitioner are tolled
until and unless a (14)(B) action is initiated in the future, at which time a

(15)(A) petition may again be filed to continue tolling them.

In re: M. ROBINSON-DIAZ.

A.Q. Docket No. 93-50.
Order To Dismiss filed February 29, 1996.
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Susan Golabek, for Complainant.

Respondent, Pro se.
Order issued by Victor W. Palmer, Chief Administrative Law Judge.

It is hereby ordered that the complaint in the above-captioned case be
dismissed without prejudice. Complainant may reissue the complaint at any
time.

In re: HUGH TIPTON (Tip) HENNESSEY and BERNARD JAMES
VANDE BERG.

A.Q. Docket No. 95-7.
Order Granting Motion To Dismiss filed April 2, 1996.

Darlene M. Bolinger, for Complainant.

William F. Gigray, Jr., Caldwell, ID, for Respondent.
Order issued by Dorothea A. Baker, Administrative Law Judge.

Complainant's Motion to Dismiss as to Bernard James Vande Berg is
hereby granted, this the 2rid day of April 1996.

In re: FOUNDATION for BEHAVIORAL RESEARCH, INC.
AWA Docket No. 96-05.
Order of Dismissal filed March 28, 1996.

Darlene M. Bolinger, for Complainant.

Respondent, Pro se.
Order issued by Edwin S. Bernstein, Administrative Law Judge.

Complainant's Motion to Dismiss is hereby granted.

In re: BRADLEY BACHMAN and WANDA BACHMAN.
AWA Docket No. 95-62.

Supplemental Order filed May 17, 1996.
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Donald Tracy, for Complainant.
AI Arendt, Pierre, South Dakota, for Respondent.
Order issued by Dorothea A. Baker, Administrative Law Judge.

Upon the motion of complainant, the Animal and Plant Health Inspection

Service, the suspension of respondents' license as dealers under the Animal
Welfare Act, as amended, contained in the Order issued in this case on April

15, 1996, is hereby terminated.

This order shall be effective upon issuance.

In re: BRUCE TRAMMELL and NANCY TRAMMELL d/b/a

TRAMMELL TRAIL TREASURE.

AWA Docket No. 95-68.

Supplemental Order filed June 7, 1996.

Colleen A. Carroll, for Complainant.
C. David Mecklin, Jr., Carrollton,GA, for Respondent.
Order issued by James W. Hunt, Administrative Law Judge.

Upon the motion of complainant, the Animal and Plant Health Inspection

Service, the suspension of respondents' license as a dealer under the Animal
Welfare Act, as amended, contained in the Order issued in this case on March

1, 1996, is hereby terminated. Further, the civil penalty assessed against the

respondents and held in abeyance by that Order is hereby abrogated.

This order shall be effective upon issuance.

In re: MAC'S MEAT, INC. and ALFREDO R. GUERRERO, JR.
FMIA Docket No. 95-7.

PPIA Docket No. 95-6.

Order of Dismissal filed April 19, 1996.

James D. Holt, for Complainant.
LawrenceM. Pickett, Las Cruces, NM, for Respondent.
Order issued by James W. Hunt, Administrative Law Judge.
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Complainant's motion to dismiss the complaint is granted. It is ordered
that the complaint filed herein on September 25, 1995, be dismissed.

In re: VELASAM VEAL CONNECTION, SIMON SAMSON, GORDON
DURLER, and DOUGLAS ACHTERBERG.
FMIA Docket No. 96-6.
PPIA Docket No. 96-5.

Ruling on Complainant's Motion to Stay Ruling filed June 24, 1996.

SheilaNovak,JamesD. Holt,andHowardLevine,for Complainant.
DennisR. JohnsonandDavidL. Durkin,Washington,D.C., forRespondents.
Rulingissuedby William(7. Jenson,JudicialOfficer.

On June 24, 1996, Complainant filed a Motion to Stay Ruling Concerning
Respondents' Emergency Appeal Petition to the Judicial Officer and Request for
Immediate Hearing on Suspension of Inspection Services (hereinafter

Complainant's Motion for Stay) requesting that the Judicial Officer stay the
issuance of any ruling on Respondents' Emergency Appeal Petition to the
Judicial Officer and Request for Immediate Hearing on Suspension of Inspection
Services (hereinafter Emergency Appeal Petition) until 4:30 p.m., Monday June
24, 1996, and that Complainant be allowed until 4:30 p.m., Monday, June 24,
1996, to file a response to Respondents' Emergency Appeal Petition.
Complainant's Motion for Stay is granted.
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In re: VELASAM VEAL CONNECTION, SIMON SAMSON, GORDON

DURLER, and DOUGLAS ACHTERBERG.
FM]A Docket No. 96-6.
PPIA Docket No. 96-5.

Order Dismissing Appeal filed June 25, 1996.

Consent decision - Late appeal.

The Judicial Officer dismissed a late-filed appeal. Administrative Law Judge Edwin S. Bernstein

(ALJ) issued a Consent Decision and Order on March 26, 1996, which became final upon issuance
in accordance with 7 C.F.R. § 1.138. The Judicial Officer has no jurisdiction to consider

Respondents' appeal after an ALI's Consent Decision and Order becomes final.

Sheila Novak, James D. Holt, and Howard Levine, for Complainant.
Dennis R. Johnson and David L. Durkin, Washington, D.C., for Respondents.

Order issued by William G. Jenson, Judicial Officer.

This case is an administrative proceeding regarding the assignment of

inspectors to Respondent Velasam Veal Connection under the Federal Meat
Inspection Act, as amended, (21 U.S.C. §§ 601-695) (hereinafter FMIA), and
the Poultry Products Inspection Act, as amended, (21 U.S.C. §§ 451-470)
(hereinafter PPIA). The proceeding was instituted pursuant to the Rules of
Practice Governing Formal Adjudicatory Administrative Proceedings Instituted

By The Secretary, (7 C.F.R. §§ 1.130-. 151) (hereinafter the Rules of Practice),
by a Complaint filed by the Administrator of the Food Safety and Inspection
Service on March 25, 1996. On March 26, 1996, a Consent Decision and

Order, agreed to by Respondents and Complainant, was issued by
Administrative Law Judge Edwin S. Bernstein (hereinafter ALJ). The Consent
Decision and Order became effective upon issuance by the ALI. (Consent

Decision and Order, p. 8.)
On June 19, 1996, Respondents filed an Emergency Motion to Reinstate

Inspection and Request for Immediate Hearing on Suspension of Inspection
Services (hereinafter Emergency Motion) in which Respondents requested an
immediate hearing on the Emergency Motion in connection with the instant

proceeding and In re Velasam Veal Connection, FMIA Docket No. 96-8 and
PPIA Docket No. 96-7 (Complaint filed June 13, 1996), and the entry of an
order reinstating inspection services at Velasam Veal Connection.

On June 21, 1996, the ALJ conducted a telephone conference regarding

Respondents' Emergency Motion. Messrs. Dennis R. Johnson and David L.
Durkin represented Respondents. Ms. Sheila Novak and Messrs. James D. Holt
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and Howard Levine represented Complainant. (Summary of Telephone
Conference, p. 1.) The ALJ states in the Summary of Telephone Conference:

Complainant's counsel stated that they could file a written reply
to Respondents' [Emergency M]otion by June 25, 1996, and I agreed
that such written reply may be filed by that date. I told counsel that

I will be away between June 26 and 30, 1996, however, perhaps
another judge can rule upon the motion in my absence.

Mr. Durkin stated that Respondents may wish to file an appeal
with the Judicial Officer in order to obtain an earlier ruling in this
matter ....

Summary of Telephone Conference, p. 2.
On June 21, 1996, Respondents filed an Emergency Appeal Petition to the

Judicial Officer and Request for Immediate Hearing on Suspension of Inspection
Services (hereinafter Emergency Appeal Petition) stating, in relevant part, as
follows:

[P]ursuant to 7 C.F.R. § 1.145(a), [Respondents] . . . appeal to the
Judicial Officer for an Order reinstating inspection services at

Respondents' facility and an immediate heating on the instant appeal
petition ....

Because this case involves the present cessation of operations at
Respondents' facility, time is of the essence to receiving a final agency
adjudication regarding the suspension of inspection services. In
absence of relief, Respondents' company will cease to exist and its

employees will be dismissed. Respondents therefore respectfully
request an Order reinstating inspection services at Respondents'
facility and an immediate hearing on the instant appeal petition•

• . . Respondents further request an order awarding Respondents
costs and attorney fees associated with defending against these wholly
unsupported and unsupportable actions of the agency, and other
further relief as is deemed appropriate.
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Emergency Appeal Petition, pp. 1-3.
At 4:00 p.m., June 21, 1996, the case was referred to the Judicial Officer

to whom authority to act as final deciding officer in the Department's

adjudicatory proceedings subject to 5 U.S.C. §§ 556 and 557 has been
delegated, (7 C.F.R. § 2.35). t At the request of Respondents, I conducted a
telephone conference with Messrs. Dennis R. Johnson and David L. Durkin,
counsel for Respondents, and Mr. James D. Holt, counsel for Complainant, at
5:00 p.m., June 21, 1996. During the telephone conference, the parties
discussed the Judicial Officer's jurisdiction to rule on the Respondents'
Emergency Appeal Petition and the basis for suspension of inspection services
at Velasam Veal Connection. Respondents and Complainant agreed that the ALl
had not submitted or certified any motion, request, objection, or other question
to the Judicial Officer in accordance with section 1.143(e) of the Rules of

Practice, (7 C.F.R. § 1.143(e)). However, Respondents contended that the
Judicial Officer has jurisdiction to rule on Respondents' Emergency Appeal
Petition pursuant to section 1.145 of the Rules of Practice, (7 C.F.R. § 1.145).
Complainant took the position that the Judicial Officer does not have jurisdiction
to rule on Respondents' Emergency Appeal Petition.

On June 24, 1996, Complainant filed a Motion to Stay Ruling Concerning
Respondents' Emergency Appeal Petition to the Judicial Officer and Request for
Immediate Hearing on Suspension of Inspection Services (hereinafter
Complainant's Motion for Stay) requesting that the Judicial Officer stay the
issuance of any ruling on Respondents' Emergency Appeal Petition until 4:30

p.m., Monday, June 24, 1996, and that Complainant be allowed until 4:30 p.m.,
Monday, June 24, 1996, to file a response to Respondents' Emergency Appeal
Petition. The Judicial Officer granted Complainant's Motion for Stay.

At approximately 3:45 p.m., June 24, 1996, Complainant filed
Complainant's Response to Respondents' Emergency Appeal Petition to the
Judicial Officer and Request for Immediate Hearing on Suspension of Inspection
Services (hereinafter Complainant's Response to Emergency Appeal Petition).

Under the Rules of Practice, a consent decision becomes "final" upon

issuance; and, therefore, there is no right of appeal. Specifically, the Rules of

Practice provide:

'The positionof theJudicialOfficerwas establishedpursuantto theAct of April 4, 1940,(7
U.S.C. §§ 450c-450g);ReorganizationPlanNo. 2 of 1953,18Fed. Reg. 3219(1953),reprinted
in 5 U.S.C. app. at 1490 (1994); and section 212(a)(1)of the Departmentof Agriculture
ReorganizationActof 1994,(7 U.S.C. § 6912(a)(1)).
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§ 1.138 Consent decision.

At any time before the Judge files the decision, the parties may
agree to the entry of a consent decision. Such agreement shall be filed

with the Hearing Clerk in the form of a decision signed by the parties
with appropriate space for signature by the Judge, and shall contain an
admission of at least the jurisdictional facts, consent to the issuance of

the agreed decision without further procedure and such other
admissions or statements as may be agreed between the parties. The
Judge shall enter such decision without further procedure, unless an
error is apparent on the face of the document. Such decision shall
have the same force and effect as a decision issued after a full

hearing, and shall become final upon issuance to become effective in
accordance with the terms of the decision.

7 C.F.R. § 1.138. (Emphasis added.)
The Rules of Practice provide as to non-consent decisions:

§ 1.142 Post-hearing procedure.

(c)Judge's decision ....

(4) The Judge's decision shall become effective without further
proceedings 35 days after the issuance of the decision, if announced

orally at the hearing, or if the decision is in writing, 35 days after the
date of service thereof upon the respondent, unless there is an appeal
to the Judicial Officer by a party to the proceeding pursuant to §
1.145; Provided, however, that no decision shall be final for purposes
of judicial review except a final decision of the Judicial Officer upon
appeal.

7 C.F.R.§ 1.142(c)(4).

Where anappealfromanAdministrativeLaw Judge'sdecisionisfiledafter

ithasbecome final(i.e.,on the35thdayafterservice),ithascontinuouslyand
consistentlybeenheldundertheRulesofPracticethattheJudicialOfficerhas
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no jurisdiction to hear an appeal that is flied after the Initial Decision and Order
becomes final? The same holding is required where an Administrative Law

Judge's decision has become "final" because it is a consent decision. In re
Moore Marketing International, Inc., 47 Agric. Dec. 1472, 1476 (1988).

Accordingly, Respondents' Emergency Appeal Petition filed in the instant

proceeding must be dismissed, since the Consent Decision and Order issued by
the ALJ in the instant proceeding became final on March 26, 1996, and the
Judicial Officer has no jurisdiction to hear an appeal that is filed after a Consent
Decision and Order becomes final.

For the foregoing reasons, the following Order should be issued.

21n re OwDukKwon, 55 Agric. Dec. __ slip op. at7 (June 6, 1996); In renew York Primate

Center, Inc., 53 Agric. Dec. 529, 530 (1994) (Respondents' appeal, filed 2 days after the Initial
Decision and Order became final, dismissed); In re K. Lester, 52 Agric. Dec. 332 (1993)

(Respondent's appeal, filed 14 days after the Initial Decision and Order became final and effective,
dismissed); In re Amril L. Carrington, 52 Agric. Dec. 331 (1993)(Respondent's appeal, filed 7 days
after the Initial Decision and Order became final and effective, dismissed); In re Teofilo Benicta, 52

Agric. Dec. 321 (1993) (Respondent's appeal, flied 6 days after the Initial Decision and Order
became final and effective, dismissed); In re Newark Produce Distributors, Inc., 51 Agric. Dec. 955

(1992) (Respondent's appeal, filed after the Initial Decision and Order became final and effective,
dismissed); In re Laura May Kurjan, 51 Agric. Dec. 438 (1992) (Respondent's appeal, fried after
the Initial Decision and Order became final, dismissed); In re Mary Fran Hamilton, 45 Agric. Dec.

2395 (1986) (Respondcnt's appeal, filed with the Hearing Clerk on the day the Initial Decision and
Order had become final and effective, dismissed); In re Buahelle Cattle Co., 45 Agric. Dec. 1131

(1986) (Respondent's appeal, filed 2 days after the Initial Decision and Order became final and
effective, dismissed); In re William T. Powell, 44 Agric. Dec. 1220 (1985) (it has consistently been
held that, under the Rules of Practice, the Judicial Officer has no jurisdiction to hear an appeal after
the Initial Decision and Order becomes final); In re Veg-Pro Distributors, 42 Agric. Dec. 1173

(1983) (Respondent's appeal, filed 1 day after Default Decision and Order became final, denied);
In re Samuel Simon Petro, 42 Agric. Dec. 921 (1983) (Judicial Officer has no jurisdiction to hear

an appeal that is filed after the Initial Decision and Order becomes final and effective); In re Charles

Brink, 41 Agric. Dec. 2146 (1982) (Judicial Officer has no jurisdiction to consider Respondent's
appeal dated before the Initial Decision and Order became final, hut not filed until 4 days after the
Initial Decision and Order became final and effective), reconsideration denied, 41 Agric. Dec. 2147

(1982); In re Mel's Produce, Inc., 40 Agric. Dec. 792 (1981) (since Respondent's petition for
reconsideration was not filed within 35 days after service of the default decision, the default decision
became final and neither the ALJ nor the Judicial Officer has jurisdiction to consider Respondent's

petition); In re Animal Research Center of Massachusetts, Inc., 38 Agric. Dec. 379 (1978) (failure

to file an appeal before the effective date of the Initial Decision is jurisdictional); In re Willie Cook,
39 Agric. Dec. 116 (19"/8) (it is the consistent policy of this Department not to consider appeals filed
more than 35 days after service of the Initial Decision).
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TheJudicialOfficerdismissedaninterlocutoryappealfroma rulingby AdministrativeLawJudge
EdwinS. Bemstein(ALJ)on thegroundthatinterlocutoryappealsarenotpermittedundertheRules
of Practice.

SheilaNovak,JamesD. Holt,andHowardI.avine,forComplainant.
DennisR. JohnsonandDavidL. Durkin,Washington,D.C., forRespondents.
Orderissuedby WilliamG. Jenson,JudicialOfficer.

This case is an administrative proceeding regarding the continuation of the
suspension of inspection services previously provided to Reapondent Velasam
Veal Connection under the Federal Meat Inspection Act, as amended, (21
U.S.C. 3§ 601-695) (hereinafter FMIA), and the Poultry Products Inspection
Act, as amended, (21 U.S.C. 33 451-470) (hereinafter PPIA). The proceeding
was instituted pursuant to the Rules of Practice Governing Formal Adjudicatory
Administrative Proceedings Instituted By The Secretary, (7 C.F.R. 33 1.130-
.151) (hereinafter the Rules of Practice), by a Complaint filed by the
Administrator of the Food Safety and Inspection Service on June 13, 1996. On
June 17, 1996, the Complaint, a copy of the Rules of Practice, and a service
letter from the Office of the Heating Clerk were personally served at
Respondent Velasam Veal Connection's principal place of business on Mr.
Berstein, Chief Financial Officer, Velasam Veal Connection. This method of
service was approved by the attorney for Velasam Veal Connection and Simon
Samson.

On June 19, 1996, Respondents filed an Emergency Motion to Reinstate
Inspection and Request for Immediate Hearing on Suspension of Inspection
Services (hereinafter Emergency Motion) in which Respondents requested an
immediate hearing on the Emergency Motion in connection with the instant
proceeding and In re Velasam Veal Connection (Consent Decision and Order),
FMIA Docket No. 96-6 and PPIA Docket No. 96-5 (Mar. 26, 1996), and the

entry of an order reinstating inspection services at Velasam Veal Connection.
On June 21, 1996, Administrative Law Judge Edwin S. Bernstein

(hereinafter ALJ) conducted a telephone conference regarding Respondents'
Emergency Motion. Messrs. Dennis R. Johnson and David L. Durkin
represented Respondents. Ms. Sheila Novak and Messrs. James D. Holt and
Howard Levine represented Complainant. (Summary of Telephone Conference,
p. 1.) The ALJ states in the Summary of Telephone Conference:

Complainant's counsel stated that they could file a written reply
to Respondents' [Emergency M]otion by June 25, 1996, and I agreed
that such written reply may be filed by that date. I told counsel that



302 FEDERAL MEAT INSPECTION ACT

I will be away between June 26 and 30, 1996, however, perhaps
another judge can rule upon the motion in my absence.

Mr. Durkin stated that Respondents may wish to file an appeal
with the Judicial Officer in order to obtain an earlier ruling in this
matter ....

Summary of Telephone Conference, p. 2.
On June 21, 1996, Respondents filed an Emergency Appeal Petition to the

Judicial Officer and Request for Immediate Hearing on Suspension of Inspection
Services (hereinafter Emergency Appeal Petition) stating, in relevant part, as
follows:

[P]ursuant to 7 C.F.R. § 1.145(a), [Respondents] . . . appeal to the
Judicial Officer for an Order reinstating inspection services at

Respondents' facility and an immediate hearing on the instant appeal
petition ....

Because this case involves the present cessation of operations at
Respondents' facility, time is of the essence to receiving a f'malagency
adjudication regarding the suspension of inspection services. In
absence of relief, Respondents' company will cease to exist and its
employees will be dismissed. Respondents therefore respectfully

request an Order reinstating inspection services at Respondents'
facility and an immediate hearing on the instant appeal petition.

•.. Respondents further request an order awarding Respondents
costs and attorney fees associated with defending against these wholly

unsupported and unsupportable actions of the agency, and other
further relief as is deemed appropriate.

Emergency Appeal Petition, pp. 1-3.
At 4:00 p.m., June 21, 1996, the case was referred to the Judicial Officer

to whom authority to act as final deciding officer in the Department's
adjudicatory proceedings subject to 5 U.S.C. §§ 556 and 557 has been
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delegated, (7 C.F.R. § 2.35). I At the request of Respondents, I conducted a
telephone conference with Messrs. Dennis R. Johnson and David L. Durkin,
counsel for Respondents, and Mr. James D. Holt, counsel for Complainant, at
5:00 p.m., June 21, 1996.

During the telephone conference, the parties discussed the Judicial Officer's
jurisdiction to rule on the Respondents' Emergency Appeal Petition and the basis
for suspension of inspection services at Velasam Veal Connection. Respondents
and Complainant agreed that the ALJ had not submitted or certified any motion,
request, objection, or other question to the Judicial Officer in accordance with
section 1.143(e) of the Rules of Practice, (7 C.F.R. § 1.143(e)). However,

Respondents contended that the Judicial Officer has jurisdiction to rule on
Respondents' Emergency Appeal Petition pursuant to section 1.145 of the Rules
of Practice, (7 C.F.R. § 1.145). Complainant took the position that the Judicial
Officer does not have jurisdiction to rule on Respondents" Emergency Appeal
Petition.

On June 24, 1996, Complainant filed a Motion to Stay Ruling Concerning
Respondents' Emergency Appeal Petition to the Judicial Officer and Request for
Immediate Hearing on Suspension of Inspection Services (hereinafter
Complainant's Motion for Stay) requesting that the Judicial Officer stay the
issuance of any ruling on Respondents' Emergency Appeal Petition until 4:30
p.m., Monday, June 24, 1996, and that Complainant be allowed until 4:30 p.m.,
Monday, June 24, 1996, to file a response to Respondents' Emergency Appeal
Petition. The Judicial Officer granted Complainant's Motion for Stay.

At approximately, 3:45 p.m., June 24, 1996, Complainant filed
Complainant's Response to Respondents' Emergency Appeal Petition to the
Judicial Officer and Request for Immediate Hearing on Suspension of Inspection
Services (hereinafter Complainant's Response to Emergency Appeal Petition),

in which Complainant contends that interlocutory appeals are not authorized
under the Rules of Practice. (Complainant's Response to Emergency Appeal

Petition, pp. 1-2.)
The Rules of Practice provide that:

§ 1.145 Appeal to Judicial Officer.

tThepositionof theJudicialOfficerwasestablishedpursuantto the Actof April4, 1940,(7
U.S.C. §§ 450c-450g);ReorganizationPlanNo. 2 of 1953, 18Fed. Reg.3219(1953),reprinted
/n 5 U.S.C. app. at 1490 (1994); and section212(a)(1)of the Departmentof Agriculture
ReorganizationActof 1994,(7 U.S.C. § 6912(a)(1)).
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(a) Filing of petition. Within 30 days after receiving service of
the Judge's decision, a party who disagrees with the decision, or any
part thereof, or any ruling by the Judge or any alleged deprivation of
rights, may appeal such decision to the Judicial Officer by filing an
appeal petition with the Hearing Clerk ....

7 C.F.R. § 1.145(a).
Section 1.145(a) of the Rules of Practice, (7 C.F.R. § 1.145(a)), clearly

limits the time during which a party may file an appeal to a 30-day period after
receiving service of the Judge's decision. The Rules of Practice define the word
ndecision_ as follows:

1.132 Definitions.

As used in this subpart [7 C.F.R., pt. 1, subpart H, (7 C.F.R.
§§ 1.130-.151)], the terms as defined in the statute under which the
proceeding is conducted and in the regulations, standards, instructions,
or orders issued thereunder, shall apply with equal force and effect.
In addition and except as may he provided otherwise in this subpart:

Decision means: (1) The Judge's initial decision made in
accordance with the provisions of 5 U.S.C. 556 and 557, and includes
the Judge's (i) findings and conclusions and the reasons or basis
therefor on all material issues of fact, law or discretion, (ii) order, and

(iii) rulings on proposed findings, conclusions and orders submitted by
the parties; and

(2) The decision and order by the Judicial Officer upon appeal of
the Judge's decision.

7 C.F.R. § 1.132.

The ALJ has not issued an initial decision in the instant proceeding in
accordance with the provisions of 5 U.S.C. §§ 556 and 557, and the Rules of
Practice do not permit interlocutory appeals. In re L.P. Feuerstein, 48 Agric.
Dec. 896 (1989); In re Landmark Beef Processors, Inc., 43 Agric. Dec. 1541
(1984); In re Orie S. LeaVell, 40 Agric. Dec. 783 (1980).

Therefore, Respondents' Emergency Appeal Petition must be rejected as
premature.

The Department's construction of the Rules of Practice is, in this respect,
consistent with the construction of the Federal Rules of Appellate Procedure.
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Rule 4(a)(1) of the Federal Rules of Appellate Procedure provides, in pertinent
part, that:

Rule 4. Appeal as of Right--When Taken

(a) Appeal in a Civil Case.--

(1) . . . [I]n a civil case in which an appeal is permitted by law
as of right from a district court to a court of appeals the notice of
appeal required by Rule 3 must be filed with the clerk of the district

court within 30 days after the date of entry of the judgment or order
appealed from; but if the United States or an officer or agency thereof
is a party, the notice of appeal may be filed by any party within 60
days after such entry ....

Fed. R. App. P. 4(a)(1).

The notes of the Advisory Committee on Appellate Rules regarding a 1979

amendment to Rule 4(a)(1) make clear that Rule 4(a)(1) is specifically designed
to prevent premature as well as late appeals, as follows:

The phrases "within 30 days of such entry" and "within 60 days
of such entry" have been changed to read "after" instead of "o[f]."
The change is for clarity only, since the word "of" in the present rule
appears to be used to mean "after." Since the proposed amended rule
deals directly with the premature filing of a notice of appeal, it was
thought useful to emphasize the fact that except as provided, the
period during which a notice of appeal may be filed is the 30 days, or
60 days as the case may be, following the entry of the judgment or
order appealed from ....

Notes of Advisory Committee on Appellate Rules--1979 Amendment.

Accord Griggs v. Provident Consumer Discount Co., 459 U.S. 56 (1982)
(per curiam) (notice of appeal filed while timely motion to alter or amend
judgment was pending in district court was absolute nullity and could not confer
jurisdiction on court of appeals); Willhauck v. Halpin, 919 F.2d 788 (lst Cir.
1990) (premature notice of appeal is a complete nullity); Mondrow v. Fountain
House, 867 F.2d 798 (3d Cir. 1989) (appellate court had no jurisdiction to hear
appeal during pendency of motion for new trial timely filed in trial court).
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Accordingly, Respondents' Emergency Appeal Petition must be dismissed,
since the Rules of Practice do not permit interlocutory appeals. Upon appealing

the Judge's initial decision, the party may raise issues with respect to "any
ruling by the Judge or any alleged deprivation of rights." (7 C.F.R. §
1.145(a).)

For the foregoingreasons,the following Order shouldbe issued.

Order

Respondents' Emergency Appeal Petition filed June 21, 1996, with respect
to the instant proceeding, is dismissed.

In re: DON R. CRUM and CLARK A. SPENCER.
HPA Docket No. 94-46.

Corrected Order as to Respondent Clark A. Spencer filed January 17, 1996.

Sharlene Deskins, for Complainant.
Carthel Smith, Lexington, TN, for Respondent.
Order issued by Dorothea A. Baker, Admims"trative Law Judge.

Pursuant to Respondent Spencer's Motion to Correct Order filed December
11, 1995, and the Complainant having no objection to said correction, it is
hereby:

Ordered:

That p_ragraph 2 of the Consent Order filed July 14, 1995, as to
Clark A. Spencer shall read:

Respondent Clark A. Spencer is disqualified for eight (8) months,
beginning July 16, 1995 from showing, exhibiting, or entering any horse,
directly or indirectly through any agent, employee, or other device, and
from judging, managing, or otherwise participating in any horse show,
horse exhibition, or horse sale or auction.

Copies hereof shall be served upon the parties.
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In re: JACKIE McCONNELL and FLOYD SHERMAN.

HPA Docket No. 91-162.

Order Lifting Stay Order filed February 14, 1995.

SharleneA. Deskins. for Complainant.
Carthel L. Smith, Lexington, TN, for Respondent.
Initial decision issued by Victor W. Palmer, Chief AdministrativeLaw Judge.
Order issued by Donald A. Campbell, Judicial Officer.

The Stay Order filed in this proceeding pending the outcome of proceedings

for judicial review is hereby removed. The disqualification provisions of the

Order previously filed herein shall become effective on the 30th day after

service of this Order on Respondent Jackie McConnell, and Respondent Jackie
McConnell shall pay the civil penalty within 30 days from the date of service

of this Order on Respondent.

In re: CHARLES ALEXANDER BOBO and ANGLE BOBO.
IIPA Docket No. 94-17.

Order Dismissing Complaint Against Charles Alexander Bobo Without

Prejudice filed February 16, 1995.

Shaflene A. Deskins, for Complainant.
JackG. Huffington,Murfreesboro,TN, for Respondent.
Order issued by James W. Hunt, Administrative Law Judge.

Wherefore, for good cause shown the complaint against Charles Alexander

Bobo is dismissed without prejudice. A hearing as to Respondent Angle Bobo
has already been scheduled for July 12, 1995.
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In re: EDDIE C. TUCK, EDMUND B. FLYNT, JR., and DONALD B.
LONGEST.
HPA Docket No. 91-115.

Order Lifting Stay filed March 1, 1995.

Donald A. Tracy, for Complainant.
Philip L. Whitson, Charlotte, NC, for Respondent.
Initial decision issued by Paul Kane, Administrative Law Judge.
Order issued by Donald A. Campbell, Judicial Officer.

By agreement of the parties, the Order staying the original Order in this
case pending the outcome of proceedings for judicial review is hereby lifted.
The 2-year disqualification order previously entered shall be effective
November 1, 1994. The $4,000 civil penalty shall be paid in equal payments
over 4 years, with the first payment due within 30 days from the date of service
of this Order on Respondent, and each remaining payment due on the
anniversary date of the first payment. If any payment is missed, the entire
remaining amount shall become due and payable immediately.

In re: BILLY GRAY.
HPA Docket No. 90-28.

Order Lifting Stay filed March 6, 1995.

M. Bradley Flynn & Lance T. Mason, for Complainant.
G. Thomas Biankenship, Indianapolis, IN, for Respondent.
Initial decision issued by Dorothea A. Baker, Administrative Law Judge.

Order issued by Donald A. Campbell, Judicial Officer.

The Stay Order filed in this proceeding pending the outcome of proceedings
for judicial review is hereby removed. The disqualification provisions of the
Order previously filed herein shall become effective on the 30th day after
service of this Order on Respondent, and Respondent shall pay the civil penalty
within 30 days from the date of service of this Order on Respondent.
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In re: GARY R. EDWARDS, LARRY E. EDWARDS, CARL EDWARDS

& SONS STABLES, WILLIAM V. BARKLEY, JR., and KAY BARKLEY.
HPA Docket No. 91-113.

Second Remand Order filed June 9, 1995.

Remand order -- Past recollection recorded -- Adverse inference from failure to testify --
Palpation evidence.

The Judicial Officer vacated the Second Initial Decision and Order flied by Judge Kane (Aid)
dismissing the Complaint, and remandedthe proceeding to the ALl. The ALJ erred in assigning
slight credibility to one USDA veterinarianand no credibility to the othersolely because of their
lack of memory as to their examinations. Both veterinarianshad recorded the results of their
examinations while the events were fresh in their minds. The ALl erred in drawing an adverse
inference that the testimony of additionalUSDA experts, if called, would have been adverse to
USDA, since the two USDA veterinarianswho examined the horse testified at the hearing. The
statutory presumptionof soreness is frequently relied on, in additionto a conclusion of soreness
reached in the absence of the statutory presumption. In this Department, there is no debate as to
the sufficiency of palpation evidence alone as serving as a highly reliable method of determining
whether a horse is sore, within the meaningof the HPA. The ALI erred in stating that evidence
obtained by palpationis prohibitedto the Department'sveterinariansby an AppropriationsAct.

Colleen Carroll, for Complainant.
Paul D. Priamns, Torrance, CA, for Respondents.
Initialdecision issued by Paul Kane, AdministrativeLawJudge.
Remand Order issued by Donald A. Campbell, Judicial Officer.

This is a disciplinary administrative proceeding under the Horse Protection

Act of 1970, as amended (15 U.S.C. § 1821 et seq.). After a Remand Order

filed August 24, 1993 (In re Gary R. Edwards, 52 Agric. Dec. 1365 (Remand
Order)), on June 30, 1994, Administrative Law Judge Paul Kane (ALJ) filed a

Second Initial Decision and Order stating, "Proof of the essential allegation

having failed, the complaint as to Gary R. Edwards, Larry E. Edwards and Carl
Edwards & Sons Stables is, in all aspects, dismissed with prejudice" (Second

Initial Decision and Order at 15). t
The first Remand Order followed the ALJ's first Initial Decision and Order

filed June 26, 1992, in which he denied Complainant's motion to amend the

Complaint to conform to the proof, and dismissed the Complaint, with

prejudice, for failure of proof of the allegations therein. In remanding, I stated

(52 Agric. Dec. 1366-67, 1368-71):

_RespondentsWilliam V. Barkley, Jr., and Kay Barkley entered into a ConsentDecision filed
January 10, 1991, and are, therefore, no longer parties to this proceeding.
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Complainant inadvertently cited and referred to the prohibition on
"entering" a horse for the purpose of exhibiting while sore ( 15 U.S.C.
§ 1824(2)(B)) instead of the correct citation and language against
exhibiting a sore horse (15 U.S.C. § 1824(2)(A)) ....

Likewise in this ,.ase subjudice, it cannot be realistically asserted
that the allegations of the Complaint did not reasonably apprise the
Respondents of the issues in controversy. Respondent was on notice
that the government would seek to prove that the Respondents' horse,
"Rare Coin," was sore at an exhibition at a certain date, time, and
place. Respondents had full opportunity to justify their conduct.

Moreover, there was a pre-hearing exchange of exhibits, and the
Respondents are certainly held to prior knowledge of the contents of

Complainant's exhibits. These exhibits all specifically and exclusively
address the issue of "Rare Coin" being sore after showing on the date
and in the exhibition charged in the Complaint. With these exhibits
in hand, I find unconvincing Respondents' claim of prejudice because
of the amendment to the Complaint ....

From the foregoing, it is obvious that there really is no rational
basis for any misunderstanding as to the government's case ....

However, in order to avoid any possibility of an appearance of
prejudice to Respondents, other than the expense of a new hearing, 3
I am remanding this proceeding to the ALJ, with an opportunity
afforded to Respondents to offer further evidence and/or re-question
witnesses ....

3I find it difficult to believe that Respondents actually want a new
hearing. They knew exactly what Complainant intended to prove
(because of the pre-trial exchange of exhibits), i.e, that the post-show
examination of the horse showed that it was sore. Complainant is

only changing the legal inference to be drawn from that proof.
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Respondents had every opportunity to show that the horse was not
sore during the post-show examination, or that, if it was, it was sore,
e.g., because it stumbled in the ring. Accordingly, if they now have
to incur the additional expense of a new hearing, it is much more their
fault than the fault of Complainant's counsel.

The ALJ shall provide Respondents the opportunity to reopen the
hearing. If Respondents request a new hearing, they may call
additional witnesses, or recall former witnesses based upon the

amended allegations. Rebuttal and surrebuttal testimony, etc., will be
allowed. The ALl shall decide the case based upon the original

record, plus any additional evidence adduced at the new hearing.

Four days before the scheduled date of the reopened heating, Respondents'
counsel advised the ALJ that he had determined to not offer any evidence in

further defense of this matter, and requested that the hearing be canceled. On
the same date, March 14, 1994, the ALl denied Respondents' request to cancel
the hearing, and amended his prior orders so as to permit Complainant's counsel
"to fully develop facts which would have been brought forth as if respondent's
[sic] counsel had proceeded with the presentation of a defense" (Order filed
March 14, 1994). However, on March 16, 1994, the ALl canceled the hearing,
stating that Complainant's counsel concurs with Respondents' "request that the
hearing scheduled for March 18, 1994, be canceled as she has no further
evidence to offer, thereby declining the opportunities afforded by the order filed
March 14, 1994" (Order filed March 16, 1994).

In his Second Initial Decision and Order, the ALJ assigned "slight

credibility" to one USDA veterinarian and "no credibility" to the other USDA
veterinarian, solely because of their lack of memory as to their examinations,
stating (Second Initial Decision at 7):

14. Based upon the appearance, demeanor and qualifications, the
testimony of Drs. Baker and Humburg[, Respondents' experts,]
concerning their observations is assigned great credibility. The
testimony of Dr. Riggins is assigned slight credibility as he had but
slight and unconvincing memory of "Rare Coin" (Tr. 103, 108) and
the testimony of Drs. Knowles has no credibility as he had no
recollection of his observations on the examination of "Rare Coin."

(Tr. 189-190)
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Although neither USDA veterinarian had present recollection at the time of
the hearing of his examination, both signed a SUMMARY OF ALLEGED
VIOLATIONS_ VS FORM 19-7 (CX 4), within a few minutes after their

examinations, and both signed an affidavit relating to their examinations within
one (Dr. Riggins) or two (Dr. Knowles) days after their examinations, while the
events were still fresh in their minds. It was reversible error for the ALl to

assign slight or no credibility to their testimony solely because of their lack of
present recollection at the time of the hearing. Virtually the same issue was
involved in In re Cecil Jordan, 51 Agric. Dec. 1229, 1229-30 (1992) (Remand
Order), final decision, 52 Agric. Dec. 1214 (1993), aft'd, 50 F.3d 46 (D.C.
Cir. 1995), in which I remanded a Horse Protection Act case to the same ALl,

involving the same USDA veterinarians (Dr. Riggins and Dr. Knowles), stating:

The ALl did not regard Complainant's documentary evidence (the
USDA veterinarians' examination report (VS Form 19-7) and the two
veterinarians' affidavits) as probative because the ALJ concluded that
the two "Government veterinarians had no present recollection of their
examination of the horse at the time of their testimony at hearing, and
so, CX 1, CX 2, CX 3, constitute hearsay." (Initial Decision at 9).
He further concluded that the recorded recollections fail to provide the
needed indicia of trustworthiness (Initial Decision at 10-15).

But, past recollection recorded is considered reliable, probative
and substantial evidence, and fulfills requirements of the
Administrative Procedure Act (5 U.S.C. § 556(d)), if the affidavits
were made while the events recorded were fresh in the witnesses'

minds, as stated in In re Rowland, 40 Agric. Dec. 1934, 1942 (1981),
aft'd, 713 F.2d 179 (6th Cir. 1983)):

Respondents complain that complainant's evidence

should be disregarded because it is "based upon past
recollection recorded and not independent memory" (Appeal
1). However, respondents did not object to the admission

of such evidence and, therefore, they are not in a position
to complain now. Moreover, complainant's witnesses made
their affidavits while the events recorded were fresh in their

minds, and such evidence is "reliable, probative, and
substantial," as required by the Administrative Procedure
Act (5 U.S.C. § 556(d)).
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In the present case, Respondents did not object to the admission
of CX 1, the form filled out by the two veterinarians stating their
conclusion that the horse was sore. Moreover, the record shows

conclusively that CX 1 and CX 2 were filled out while the events were
fresh in the minds of the veterinarians, and CX 3 was filled out only
2 weeks after the examination, based on notes made while the events
were fresh in the mind of the veterinarian. Hence the ALJ erred in

failing to regard CX 1, CX 2, and CX 3 as reliable and probative.

In Cecil Jordan, the ALJ found on remand (and the reviewing court agreed)
that Complainant had proven the violation, stating (52 Agric. Dec. at 1226):

After careful consideration of the conflicting evidence in this
case, it is necessary to find that when complainant's documentary
evidence is viewed as reliable and probative, the clinical findings
attributed to the two qualified and experienced Government
veterinarians merit greater credibility and weight than the testimony
of respondent and her husband. CX 1, CX 2 and CX 3 are
sufficiently detailed to provide substantial evidence on which to base
a decision.

In In re C.M. Oppenheimer (Decision as to C.M. Oppenheimer, d/b/a
Oppenheimer Stables), 54 Agric. Dec. a (Mar. 6, 1995), in reversing this
same ALJ in another Horse Protection Act case, in part, because he discounted
the weight of the evidence by the USDA veterinarians because at the time of the
hearing they had no present recollection of their examinations, I stated (slip op.
at 24-30):

I. Complainant's Past-Recollection-Recorded Evidence Is
Reliable, Probative, and Substantial.

At the outset, it must be acknowledged that here, as in every (or

almost every) Horse Protection Act case, the USDA veterinarians had,
at the time of the hearing, no independent recollection of their
examination of MBlack Power's Jezebel _ (Finding 7). Their routine
examination occurred on August 23, 1990, almost 3 years prior to the

hearing. However, both USDA veterinarians had present recollection
that they examined horses at the Shelbyville National Celebration on
that date (Tr. 20, 116-17).
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In accordance with their customary procedure, the SUMMARYOF
ALLEGEDVIOLATIONS,APHISFORM7077, was filled out immediately
after the two USDA veterinarians determined that the horse was sore,

with an investigator filling out the top portion relating to the name of
the event, horse trainer and owner, etc., and Dr. Knowles filling out
the lower part, beginning with Item 22 (Finding 11). In accordance
with his customary procedure, Dr. Riggins signed the SUMMARYOF
ALLEGED VIOLATIONSform, indicating his agreement, immediately
after it was completed by Dr. Knowles (Finding 11).

Dr. Knowles personally typed and executed his affidavit the
morning after the examination, while the events were fresh in his
mind, and he also had in front of him the SUMMARYOF ALLEGED

VIOLATIONSform, which he had prepared the night before (Findings
11, 13). Dr. Riggins wrote a handwritten account of his examination
on the night of the examination, or the next morning, based on his
fresh recollection and the SUMMARY OF ALLEGED VIOLATIONS form,

and his notes were copied verbatim into an affidavit, which he
executed 4 days after the examination (Finding 14).

The SUMMARY OF ALLEGED VIOLATIONS, APHIS FORM 7077 (CX
3), and the USDA veterinarians' affidavits (CX 4, 5) are evidence
which is "'reliable, probative, and substantial,' as required by the
Administrative Procedure Act (5 U.S.C. § 556(d))." In re Albert Lee

Rowland, 40 Agric. Dec. 1934, 1942 (1981), aft'd, 713 F.2d 179 (6th
Cir. 1983). This same type of evidence, consisting of past
recollection recorded, has been received in all, or almost all, of the
more than 60 Horse Protection Act cases I have reviewed, and is

almost always the principal part of Complainant's proof as to a horse
soring violation.

The ALJ's decision in this case shows that he gave little weight
to affidavits and the SUMMARY OF ALLEGED VIOLATIONS form

prepared by the Department's veterinarians, in part, becanse the
Department's veterinarians had no present recollection of their
examinations. (His erroneous views as to inconsistencies are

discussed below and in sections II and III.) He states (Initial Decision
at 14, 20-21, 31-32):
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The Federal Circuit Court of Appeals to which
Mr. Oppenheimer could, as a resident of Kentucky, voice an
appeal to any disciplinary order resulting from this litigation
is well aware of the statute prohibiting soring of Tennessee
Walking Horses. However, this present matter involves the

weight to be assigned by the trial judge to the
uncorroborated hearsay documents which form the only

foundation for the Government's proof, an issue not reached
in Fleming v. U.S. Dep't of Agric., 713 F.2d 179 (6th Cir.
1983). In the Fleming case, it was not significant that the
veterinarians who provided evidence did or did not have
recall of the facts of their examinations, for direct
testimony, based on recall, of such was offered at trial,

thereby providing opportunities for the testing of their
abilities to accurately observe and record facts. In Fleming,
/d. at 185, the evidence of soring as offered by the
Department's veterinarians was noted as being subject to
cross-examination, and was corroborated by the presence of
scars, lesions, and thermograph tests. Here these features
are absent. And, here, another issue is present: the

recordings of the veterinarians are shown to be inconsistent,
a flaw in accuracy.

I find that the veterinarians' recorded observations do
not concur and do not contain sufficient information to

support their conclusions; therefore, the documents relied
upon by the Department as representing the findings of the
veterinarians lack the requisite indicia of trustworthiness and
accuracy for their recorded recollections to be considered
reliable, probative and substantial evidence .... Counsel
to Mr. Oppenheimer further established that the abilities of
the Government's veterinarians to see, hear and record
relevant facts were displayed to be insufficient, thereby
weakening the presumption of soreness. Indeed,
Dr. Riggins testified, "if I had gone into a real complete
description I might have written more" in the affidavit. (Tr.
57)
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I find that the evidence offered by respondent's
witnesses enjoys greater credibility than the hearsay of
complaint counsel's [sic] affidavits and form, which lacked
the indicia of trustworthiness and reliability. Dr. Carver
had a clear memory of the events surrounding her
examination of nBlack Power's Jezebel n and the results

thereof. Her testimony was subject to cross-examination by
complaint counsel [sic]. Dr. Knowles and Dr. Riggins had
no recall of their examinations and hence avoided cross-
examination.

The ALl is incorrect in his belief that in the administrative

hearings involved in the Sixth Circuit's Fleming case, "direct
testimony, based on recall .... was offered at trial, thereby providing
opportunities for the testing of their [i.e., the veterinarians'] abilities
to accurately observe and record facts _ (Initial Decision at 14). The
veterinarians in Fleming, as in the present case, had no independent
recollection of their examinations. The first sentence of the court's

decision in Fleming states that four appellants, _Preach Fleming,
Albert Lee Rowland, C.[H]. Meadows and Joe Fleming were found
in three separate administrative hearings to have shown 'sored'
Tennessee Walking Horses in violation of the Horse Protection Act,
15 U.S.C. § 1821 et seq. (1976)." My three decisions affirmed in
Fleming were In re Joe Fleming, 41 Agric. Dec. 38 (1982); In re
Albert Lee Rowland and C.H. Meadows, 40 Agric. Dec. 1934 (1981);
and In re Preach Fleming, 40 Agric. Dec. 1521 (1981). In my
decision in Preach Fleming, affirmed by the Sixth Circuit in Fleming,
it is expressly stated that the veterinarians had no present recollection
of their examinations, as follows (40 Agric. Dec. at 1524 n. 1):

1. Each of the USDA veterinarians who observed or

examined Ebony's Bad Loser on August 24, 1978, testified
and were cross-examined at the hearing. However, because
they observe and examine many horses in the course of their
official duties and had no present recollection of examining
Ebony's Bad Loser, their affidavits, given when their
observations were fresh, were received in evidence.
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Similarly, in my decision in Rowland and Meadows, affirmed by
the Sixth Circuit in Fleming, it is stated (40 Agrie. Dec. at 1942):

Respondents complain that complainant's evidence
should be disregarded because it is "based upon past
recollection recorded and not independent memory" (Appeal

1). However, respondents did not object to the admission
of such evidence and, therefore, they are not in a position

to complain now. Moreover, complainant's witnesses made
their affidavits while the events recorded were fresh in their

minds, and such evidence is "reliable, probative, and
substantial," as required by the Administrative Procedure
Act (5 U.S.C. § 556(d)).

Hence, as to three of the four appellants (respondents) in the

Sixth Circuit's Fleming case, it is absolutely certain that the
Department's veterinarians had no recall of their examinations at the
administrative trial. As to the fourth appellant (respondent), in my

decision in Joe Fleming, affirmed by the Sixth Circuit in Fleming,
there is no mention of any present recollection by the USDA
veterinarians, and the testimony of one of the veterinarians is quoted

that, "[n]ormally, I approach a horse from the left side . . ." (41
Agrie. Dec. at 40 n.2), which is consistent with the view that he had
no present recollection, or he would not have been testifying as to his
normal practice.

In addition to Fleming, the Sixth Circuit has affmned findings of

soreness based on past recollection recorded in In re A.P. Holt
(Decision as to Richard Poleh & Merrie Polch), 52 Agrie. Dec. 233,
239-40 (1993), aff'dper curiam, 32 F.3d 569 (6th Cir. 1994) (Table)
(citation limited under 6th Circuit Rule 24) (WL 390510) (Text in
WESTLAW), and In re Billy Gray, 52 Agrie. Dec. 1044, 1058, 1069,
1075-76 (1993), aft'd, 39 F.3d 670 (6th Cir. 1994). See also In re
Charles Roach (Decision as to Calvin L. Baird, Sr.), 52 Agrie. Dec.

1092, 1101 (1993), rev'd, 39 F.3d 131 (6th Cir. 1994) (court reversed
the JO's finding that Baird "allowed" the entry of the sore horse, but
the court was "not persuaded that, based upon the evidence, the JO
reached the wrong conclusion" in concluding that the horses were
sore, when entered (39 F.3d at 135)--which conclusion was based on
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past recollection recorded(by Knowles and Riggins) as to one of the
two horses). In Gray v. USDA, 39 F.3d 670, 675-76 (6th Cir. 1994),
the court held:

In challenging the Secretary's decision, Gray disputes
the reliability, probativeness, and substantiality of the
evidence against him. For instance, he makes much of the
fact that the government's key witnesses at his June 1991
hearing -- Hester, Rushing, and Sutton -- could not
independently recall the facts and circumstances surrounding
his alleged violation. As such, Gray insists, the primary
evidence the ALl and the Secretary relied upon to find a §
1824(2)(B)violation -- comprised of the doctors' affidavits,
the Summary of Alleged Violation form, and the interview
summary prepared by Sutton -- is suspect and cannot
support the Secretary's ultimate decision.5

SThissame argument was considered and rejected by
the Third Circuit in Wagner v. Department of Agric., 28
F.3d 279, 280 (3d Cir. 1994). In Wagner, the court
observed:

In spite of petitioners' protestations to the contrary, it is
well settled that affidavits are a form of probative evidence.
Though live testimony may generally be favored over
affidavits because the former permits cross-examinationand
credibility assessment, these interests are adequately
safeguarded when, as in this case, the affiant appears in
court. Though the doctors' inability to recall their
respective examinations of Sir Shakerimpaired petitioners'
ability to cross-examine as to examination itself, this does
not upset our determination that the finding of soreness is
supported by substantial evidence.

Id. at 282-83 (citations omitted).
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The Administrative Procedure Act (APA) provides that

an agency conducting a hearing may receive "[a]ny oral or
documentary evidence." 5 U.S.C, § 556(d). The APA
adds, however, that "the agency as a matter of policy shall
provide for the exclusion of irrelevant, immaterial, or
unduly repetitious evidence." Id. On this point, the
USDA's implementing regulations state: "Evidence which
is immaterial, irrelevant, or unduly repetitious, or which is
not of the sort upon which responsible persons are
accustomed to rely, shall be excluded insofar as
practicable." 7 C.F.R. § 1.141(g)(iv) (1994).

The documentary evidence of which Gray complains is
clearly the sort of evidence "upon which responsible persons
are accustomed to rely." That this evidence is technicaUy
hearsay does not alter our conclusion. See Calhoun v.
Bailar, 626 F.2d 145, 148 (9th Cir. 1980) ("Not only is
there no administrative rule of automatic exclusion for

hearsay evidence, but the only limit to the admissibility of
hearsay evidence is that it bear satisfactorily indicia of
reliability."), cert. denied, 452 U.S. 906 (1981). The
Calhoun court commented: "We have stated the test of

admissibility as requiring that the hearsay be probative and
its use be fundamentally fair." ld. The documents at issue

here satisfy these criteria. They were signed and/or
prepared by individuals who were experienced in their tasks
and who had no reason to record their findings in other than
an impartial fashion. Moreover, the documents were
created almost contemporaneously with the observations they

relay .6

6At Gray's hearing, Hester and Rushing both testified
that their affidavits reflected what they had found during

their examination of Night Prowler.

To determine that this evidence was probative and

reliable, of course, is not to say that it also is substantial.
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Again, as our decision in Murphy makes clear,
"'[s]ubstantiality of the evidence must be based upon the
record taken as a whole.'" 801 F.2d at 184.

In addition, in Oppenheimer, supra, I noted that the testimony and past
recollection recorded of Dr. Riggins and Dr. Knowles (the same two USDA
veterinarians involved in the present proceeding) were accepted as credible by
all five of the USDA ALJs in numerous cases, stating (slip op. at 84-86):

It is worth noting that Dr. Riggins and Dr. Knowles were the two
USDA veterinarians whose testimony and past recollection recorded
(very similar to that in the present ease) were accepted as credible
enough in numerous other cases to sustain a finding of soring by
Judge Kane, _4Judge Bernstein,_5 Judge Hunt, t6 Chief Judge Palmer, _7
and Judge Baker. 18

_41nre Ernest Upton, 53 Agric. Dec. 239 (1994); In re Cecil
Jordan (Decision after remand as to Sheryl Crawford), 52 Agric. Dec.
1214 (1993), [aft'd, 50 F.3d 46 (D.C. Cir. 1995)]; In re Harvey L.
King, 50 Agric. Dec. 1592 (1991); In re A.P. "Sonny" Holt, 49
Agric. Dec. 853 (1990).

_Slnre Paul A. Watlington, 52 Agric. Dec. 1172 (1993).

t61nre Charles Roach (Decision as to Calvin L. Baird, Sr.), 52

Agrie. Dec. 1092 (1993), rev'd, 39 F.3d 131 (6th Cir. 1994) (court
reversed the JO's finding that Baird "allowed" the entry of the sore
horse, but the court was "not persuaded that, based upon the evidence,
the JO reached the wrong conclusion" in concluding that the horses
were sore, when entered (39 F.3d at 135)).

_71nre A.P. Holt (Decision as to Richard Polch & Merrie Polch),
52 Agric. Dec. 233 (1993), aff'dper curiam, 32 F.3d 569 (6th Cir.
1994) (Table) (citation limited under 6th Circuit Rule 24) (WL
390510) (Text in WESTLAW).

181nre Gilbert McCarley, 51 Agric. Dec. 378 (1992).
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Further, Dr. Riggins was one of the two USDA veterinarians whose
testimony and past recollection recorded were accepted in other cases

by Judge Kane, t9Judge Bernstein, 2° Chief Judge Palmer, El and Judge
Baker. 2z Similarly, Dr. Knowles was one of the two USDA
veterinarians whose testimony and past recollection recorded were
accepted in other cases by Judge Kane, z3by Judge Bernstein, u and by
Judge Hunt. _

19In re Charles Massey, 52 Agric. Dec. 543 (1993).

2°In re William Earl Bobo, 53 Agric. Dec. 176 (1994), [aft'd,

__ F.3d, No. 94-3311 (6th Cir. May. 5, 1995)]; In re Gerald
GrizzeU, 49 Agric. Dec. 875 (1990).

2Zlnre Jackie McConnell, 52 Agric. Dec. 1156 (1993), aft'd, 23
F.3d 407 (Table) (6th Cir. 1994) (text in WESTLAW), printed in 53
Agric. Dec. 174 (1994).

22In re Larry E. Edwards, 49 Agric. Dec. 188 (1990), aff'd per
curiam, 943 F.2d 1318 (1 lth Cir. 1991) (unpublished), cert. denied,
112 S.Ct. 1475 (1992).

23In re Charles Massey, 51 Agric. Dec. 1151, 1155-56 (1992).

24In re Ronald Green, 51 Agric. Dec. 363, 367-68 (1992).

ZSlnre Steve Brinkley, 52 Agric. Dec. 252,254,257,261 (1993);
but not in In re Bryant Fly, 51 Agric. Dec. 1128 (1992).

Based upon my examination of the record in this case, in addition
to my examination of the records in over 60 other Horse Protection

Act cases, I am convinced that palpation alone, as practiced by the
USDA veterinarians to differentiate between a horse that is nervous,

excited, silly about its feet, etc., from a horse in pain from man-made
causes, is a highly reliable method of determining whether a horse is
sore, within the meaning of the Horse Protection Act. The more than
60 other cases upon which I rely include expert testimony, similar to
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that of Dr. Knowles and Dr. Riggins in the present case, of numerous
other USDA veterinarians who had examined thousands of horses for

compliance with the Horse Protection Act, including the testimony of
Dr. Crichfield (several thousand horses since 1973), 56 Dr. Clawson
(8,000 to 10,000 horses), 27 Dr. Hester (thousands of horses), 28
Dr. Kelley (1,000 to 2,000 horses), 29 Dr. Wood (2,000 horses), 3°
Dr. Hendricks (4,000 to 6,000 horses), 31 Dr. Clifford (1,000
horses), 32Dr. Rushing (thousands of horses), 33Dr. Jordon (thousands
of horses), 34Dr. Burkholder (10 years' experience), 3s and Dr James
(8 years' experience, over 2,000 horses). _

261nre Bill Young, 53 Agric. Dec. [1232, 1256 (1994)], appeal
docketed, No. 94-40818 (Sth Cir. Aug. 25, 1994).

27In re William Earl Bobo, 53 Agric. Dec. 176, 200 (1994),

[aft'd, __ F.3d, No. 94-3311 (6th Cir. May. 5, 1995)].

2Sin re Danny Burks, 53 Agric. Dec. 322, 328 (1994).

291nre Eddie C. Tuck (Decision as to Eddie C. Tuck), 53 Agric.

Dec. 261,292 (1994), appeal voluntarily dismissed, No. 94-1887 (4th
Cir. Oct. 6, 1994) (sanction not changed).

3°In re William Earl Bobo, 53 Agric. Dec. 176, 201 (1994),

[aft'd, __ F.3d, No. 94-3311 (6th Cir. May. 5, 1995)].

311nre Jackie McConnell, 52 Agric. Dec. 1156, 1167 (1993),

aft'd, 23 F.3d 407 (Table) (6th Cir. 1994) (text in WESTLAW).

321nre Charles Sims (Decision as to Charles Sims), 52 Agric.
Dec. 1243, 1259 (1993).

331nre Billy Gray, 52 Agric. Dec. 1044, 1072 (1993), aft'd, 39
F.3d 670 (6th Cir. 1994).

341nre Larry E. Edwards, 49 Agric. Dec. 188, 196 (1990), aff'd
per curiam, 943 F.2d 1318 (llth Cir. 1991) (unpublished), cert.
denied, 112 S.Ct. 1475 (1992).
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35In re Charles Sims (Decision as to Charles Sims), 52 Agric.
Dec. 1243, 1259 (1993).

361nre Paul A. Watlington, 52 Agric. Dec. 1172, 1190 (1993);
In re Jackie McConnell, 44 Agric. Dec. 712, 727 n.4 (1985), vacated

in part, Nos. 85-3259, 3267, 3276 (6th Cir. Dec. 5, 1985) (consent
order substituted for original order), printed in 51 Agdc. Dec. 313
(1992).

Since once again the ALJ has inappropriately discounted the testimony of
USDA veterinarians because at the time of the heating they had no independent
recollection of their examinations, I am remanding the proceeding to the ALJ
to reconsider the evidence without such improper discounting of their credibility.

In addition to the error just discussed, the AIA erred in drawing an adverse
inference that the testimony of additional USDA experts, if called, would have
been adverse to USDA. The AIA states (Second Initial Decision at 13-14):

Complaint counsel [sic] did not introduce evidence of equal weight
contrary to that expressed by respondent's witness and it must
therefore be inferred that such evidence would not contradict the

opinions of Drs. Baker and Humburg. See, Saylor v. U.S. Dep't. of
Agric., 723 F.2d 581 (7th Cir. 1983), Edward Whaley, et al., 35
Agric. Dec. 1519, 1522 (H.P.A. Dkt. No. 2[8]) (September 22,
1976). 16

t6Complaint counsel [sic], by supporting the motion to cancel the
post-remand hearing, did not take advantage of the orders of
November 10, 1993 and March 14, 1994, the previous in part noting:

"It is expected that expert opinion will be offered by both
counsel to interpret this tape[, i.e., RX 3, a video recording
of the exhibition,] and the consequences of the stumble
therein depicted, recognizing the stipulation of counsel filed
February 7, 1992."
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In Saylor v. United States Dep't of Agric., supra, cited by the ALJ, the
court held (723 F.2d at 583):

In any event, the USDA did not call Kostelecky to testify at the
hearing. We recently approved the USDA's practice of drawing an
adverse inference from a party's failure to call a potentially important
witness. See Mattes v. United States, 721 F.2d 1125 at 1130 (7th Cir.

1983). What is sauce for the goose is sauce for the gander, and we
believe a like inference may be drawn here against the USDA. 2

Similarly, in Edward Whaley, supra, cited by the ALJ, I held (35 Agric.
Dec. 1522):

Respondents rely on the fact that a third Department veterinarian
who physically examined _Delight's Grand Slam" after its
performance on August 30, 1972, was not called as a witness.
Complainant contends that the witness was not available since he was
on vacation, but that if he had been available, his testimony would

have supported the testimony of the other two Department
veterinarians[, who observed the horse in the ring, but did not
examine it]. Under the Department's settled policy, which has been
applied frequently in the past, [footnote omitted] I infer that the
Department's veterinarian who physically examined _Delight's Grand
Slam n on August 30, 1972, did not detect evidence of soring.

However, in the present case, both USDA veterinarians who examined the
horse testified at the hearing. Hence there is no basis for drawing an adverse

inference against USDA. Although only one of the two USDA veterinarians
(Dr. Knowles) viewed the video, "and he was of the opinion that the stumble did

not occasion a sprain (Tr. 315,323-324), and that the pain response recorded

2Althoughirrelevanthere,I notethatthecourtinSaylorremandedtheproceedingtomebecause
I failedto explainadequatelywhyI did notbelieveSaylor'stestimonythat livestockweightgains
occurredwhenhe boughtcattle, tookthemto his farm, substitutedsomeheaviercattlefor lighter
ones. and thensold them. After I explainedmy reasonsin a 527-typed-pagedeeisioninvolving14
separatetransactions(In re GeorgeW. Saylor,Jr.. 44 Agric. Dec. 2238, 2238-2676(1985)).in
whichI demonstratedthat the"proofhere is beyondthe shadowof a reasonabledoubt"(44Agrie.
Dec.at 2255),Sayloracceptedthe$10,000civilpenaltyand8-monthregistrationsuspensionwithout
furtherappeal.
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at CX 4 [SUMMARYOF ALLEGEDVIOLATIONS,VSFORM19-7] would not be the
result of a sprain or injury to a shoulder or tendon" (Second Initial Decision at
12), all of the palpation testimony by both USDA veterinarians is relevant in
determining whether the consistent and repeatable pain responses detected by the
veterinarians was caused by chemical and/or action devices, or whether the
results were caused by some other circumstance, such as the horse's stumble
during the exhibition. The courts have recognized that the palpation technique
used by USDA's veterinarians is designed to distinguish between consistent and
localized pain responses and responses because the horse did not want to be
touched. For example, in Bobo v. United States Dep't of Agric., __ F.3d,
No. 94-3311, slip op. at 5, 11, 18 (6th Cir. May. 5, 1995), the court stated:

In addition, both Drs. Clawson and Riggins [(Dr. Riggins is one of
the two USDA veterinarians in the present case)] testified that in

palpating a horse's pastern, they employ examination methods that
would distinguish consistent and localized pain response to palpation
from the reaction of a nervous or skittish horse, which generally
would react to touching anywhere on its foot.

It is the Secretary's interpretation of his own regulations that
evidence based on palpation alone may serve as the basis for a f'mding
of "soreness" under the HPA. Brief of Respondent at 37. See also

In re Tuck, 53 Agric. Dec. 261, 1994 WL 271821 at "21, *23 (1994)
('Frequently, in [HPA] cases, the evidence relates solely to
observations based on palpation. [P]alpation alone is a highly reliable
method of determining whether a horse is sore, within the meaning of
the [HPA].").

Finally, although petitioners Bobo and Mitchell both testified that
Ultimate Beam's responses which were observed by Drs. Clawson and
Riggins at the Shelbyville show were the result of Ultimate Beam's
nervousness or high strung nature, both Drs. Clawson and Riggins
testified that they use methods, such as coming back and repalpating
a spot at which they obtained a response to palpation to see if the
horse responds consistently, in order to distinguish a pain reaction



326 HORSE PROTECTION ACT

from a reaction due to a horse that is nervous, high strung, or silly
about its feet.

In addition, the ALJ expressed a number of erroneous or incomplete views
as to palpation. For example, the ALJ states (Second Initial Decision at 8-9):

The process they [Drs. Riggins and Knowles] use to detect soring is
simple: they palpate forelimbs, they observe reactions ....

• . . It has been concluded that evidence of soring obtained only
through palpation t° is of such a quality that consideration of the
enforcement-enhancing provision of the presumption at 15 U.S.C.A.
§ 1825(d)(5) is but extravagant.

_°The status of the reliability of the palpation technique is
discussed in A.P. Holt (Decision as to Richard Polch & Merrie Polch)

52 Agric. Dec. 233,243-246 (1993), [aff'dper curiam, 32 F.3d 569
(6th Cir. 1994), 1994 WL 390510 (citation limited under 6th Circuit

Rule 24)]. Evidence obtained by palpation, is hotly debated as being
insufficient (Tr. 446) and prohibited to the Department's veterinarians
by an Appropriations Act, Pub. L. No. 102-341, 106 Stat. 873,881-
882 (1992).

First, the observation that they "palpate forelimbs, they observe reactions,"
is so incomplete and simplistic as to be misleading. As the court recognized in
Bobo, supra (slip op. at 18), USDA veterinarians "use methods, such as coming
back and repalpating a spot at which they obtained a response to palpation to see
if the horse responds consistently, in order to distinguish a pain reaction from
a reaction due to a horse that is nervous, high strung, or silly about its feet."
Also, their uniform practice is to rule out, in their professional opinions,
responses from injury or natural causes.

Second, the statutory presumption is not regarded as "but extravagant," but
is frequently relied on, in addition to the conclusion reached in the absence of

the statutory presumption. For example, in my decision in Bobo, discussed
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above, I held that, "I rely on the prima facie case as well as the presumption
that the horse was sore on both occasions" (53 Agric. Dec. at 206).

Third, in this Department, there is no debate as to the sufficiency of

palpation evidence alone as serving as a highly reliable method of determining
whether a horse is sore, within the meaning of the Act. See Bobo, supra, slip

op. at 11 (quoted above). See also In re C.M. Oppenheimer, 54 Agric. Dec.
, slip op. at 40-89 (Mar. 6, 1995); In re Bill Young, 53 Agric. Dec. 1232,

1253-67 (1994), appeal docketed, No. 94-40818 (5th Cir. Aug. 25, 1994). As
stated in Bill Young (53 Agric. Dec. at 1282):

Considering all of the Horse Protection Act cases decided by the
Judicial Officer from June 29, 1990, to the present 2s (not involving the
irrebuttable presumption created by the Scar Rule), the evidence as to
19 of the 25 horses, or 76%, consisted entirely of the reaction of the

horses to palpation. 29 Even as to the other six horses in which there
was some evidence of a slight gait deficit (usually failing to lead freely
with a loose rein, and sometimes tucked under), 3° the primary
evidence in each case was the palpation evidence.

28No Horse Protection Act cases were decided by the Judicial

Officer from September 12, 1985, through June 28, 1990.

291nre Burks, 53 Agric. Dec. [322, 328-29, 339-42 (1994)]; In
re Tuck (Decision as to Eddie C. Tuck), 53 Agric. Dec. [261,269-78,
283,286-95 (1994)1 (two horses), [appeal voluntarily dismissed, No.
94-1887 (4th Cir. Oct. 6, 1994)]; In re Martin, 53 Agric. Dec. [212,
223-24 (1994), rev'd per curiam, No. 94-3394 (6th Cir. May 31,

1995) (unpublished) (citation limited under 6th Circuit Rule 24)]; In
re Bobo, 53 Agric. Dec. [176, 197-201 (1994)] (same horse, two
shows), aft'd, No. 94-3311 (6th Cir. May. 5, 1995)]; In re Kelly, 52

Agric. Dec. 1278, 1288-95 (1993), [appeal dismissed, 38 F.3d 999
(8th Cir. 1994)]; In re Sims (Decision as to Charles Sims), 52 Agric.
Dec. 1243, 1253-62 (1993); In re Watlington, 52 Agric. Dec. 1172,
1187-92 (1993) (one of two horses); In re Roach (Decision as to
Calvin L. Baird, Sr.), 52 Agric. Dec. 1092, 1101-02 (1993), [rev'd,
39 F.3d 131 (6th Cir. 1994)]; In re Wagner (Decision as to Roy E.

Wagner and Judith E. Rizio), 52 Agric. Dec. 298, 308-13 (1993),
aft'd, [28 F.3d 279 (3d Cir. 1994), reprinted in 53 Agric. Dec. 169
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(1994)]; In re Callaway, 52 Agric. Dec. 272, 284-89 (1993); In re
Brinkley (Decision as to Doug Brown), 52 Agric. Dec. 252, 262-66

(1993); In re Holt (Decision as to Richard Polch & Merrie Polch), 52
Agric. Dec. 233,242-43 (1993), aff'dper curiam, [32 F.3d 569 (6th
Cir. 1994), 1994 WL 390510 (citation limited under 6th Circuit Rule

24)]; In re Elliott (Decision as to William Dwaine Elliott), 51 Agric.
Dec. 334, 341 (1992), aft'd, 990 F.2d 140 (4th Cir.), cert. denied,

114 S.Ct. 191 (1993); In re Smith, 51 Agric. Dec. 327, 328-31
(1992); In re Sparkman, 50 Agric. Dec. 602, 612-14 (1991); In re

Holt, 49 Agric. Dec. 853, 856-57 (1991); In re Edwards, 49 Agric.
Dec. 188, 195-97, 204-06 (1990), aff'dper curiam, 943 F.2d 1318
(1 lth Cir. 1991) (unpublished), cert. denied, 112 S.Ct. 1475 (1992).

3°In re Jordan (Decision as to Sheryl Crawford), 52 Agric. Dec.
1214, 1229, 1235 (1993), [aft'd, 50 F.3d 46 (D.C. Cir. 1995)1; In re
Watlington, 52 Agric. Dec. 1172, 1192 (1993) (one of two horses);
In re McConnell, 52 Agric. Dec. 1156, 1160 (1993), aft'd, 23 F.3d
407 (Table) (6th Cir. 1994) (text in WESTLAW); In re Crowe, 52
Agric. Dec. 1132, 1152 (1993); In re Roach (Decision as to Calvin L.
Baird, Sr.), 52 Agric. Dec. 1092, 1101-02 (1993) (one of two horses),

[rev'd, 39 F.3d 131 (6th Cir. 1994)]; In re Gray, 52 Agric. Dec.
1044, 1073-74 (1993), [aft'd, 39 F.3d 670 (6th Cir. 1994)].

Since the cases just cited in Bill Young were decided, there have been six
additional decisions (including Bill Young), all of which relied solely on
palpation evidence to prove soring. 3 Hence at this time, considering all of the
relevant Horse Protection Act cases decided since June 29, 1990, to the present,
the evidence as to 25 of the 31 horses, or 80.6%, consisted entirely of the
reaction of the horses to palpation.

3Inre Becknell,54 Agric. Dec. , slip op. at 4, 7, 12-13(June 1. 1995);In re C.M.
Oppenheimer,54Agric.Dec., slipop. at 65 (Mar.6, 1995);In re TracyReneeHampton,53
Agric. Dee. 1357,1363-65,1367-70(1994);In reJohnnyE. Lewis,53Agrie. Dee. 1327,1337-43,
1345-46(1994),appealdocketed,No. 94-7044(llth Cir. Oct. 28, 1994);In re KathyArmstrong,
53Agric. Dec. 1301,1305-07(1994),appealdocketed,No. 94-9202(1lth Cir. Oct. 26, 1994);In
re Bill Young,53 Agric. Dec. 1232, 1253-67(1994).appeal docketed,No. 94-40818(5th Cir.
Aug. 25, 1994).
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Fourth, evidence obtained by palpation is not "prohibited to the

Department's veterinarians by an Appropriations Act" (Second Initial Decision
at 9 n.10). As the Sixth Circuit held in Bobo, supra (slip op. at 12-13):

Furthermore, neither the proviso in APHIS's "sala
ties and expenses" appropriation for Fiscal Year 1993 nor the statements in the
Senate and Conference Reports for Fiscal Year 1994, as relied on by petitioners,
renders the Secretary's interpretation of his regulations either "plainly erroneous
or inconsistent." Stinson, 113 S. Ct. at 1919.

"[W]hen Congress desires to suspend or repeal a statute in force,
'[t]here can be no doubt that.., it could accomplish its purpose by
an amendment to an appropriation bill, or otherwise.'" United States
v. Will, 449 U.S. 200, 222 (1980) (quoting United States v.
Dickerson, 310 U.S. 554,555 (1940)). However, we do not find that

Congress' statements in the 1993 appropriations legislation constitutes
as implied amendment to the HPA. See Tennessee Valley Authority
v. Hill, 437 U.S. 153, 189 (1978). The 1993 appropriations
legislation applied only to Fiscal Year 1993. Moreover, Congress was
clearly aware of USDA's and APHIS's reliance on digital palpation as
a means of finding "soreness" under the HPA. In its appropriations
legislation Congress could have but did not direct the Secretary to
discontinue the practice of finding "soreness" based on digital
palpation alone. In addition, Congress could have but did not, amend
the HPA to prohibit a finding of "soreness" based on digital palpation
alone. (Footnote omitted.)

Turning to Respondents' expert witnesses, the Aid stated (Second Initial
Decision at 7):

14. Based upon the appearance, demeanor and qualifications, the
testimony of Drs. Baker and Humburg concerning their observations
is assigned great credibility.

Several months earlier, the same Aid stated with respect to the same two
witnesses (In re Ernest Upton, 53 Agric. Dec. 239, 251 (1994)):

The testimony of Dr. Randall Baker reveals that he made no
record of his examination of Mr. Upton's horse. Neither he nor
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Mr. Upton established how much time had elapsed following the
examinations of "Flipping Gold" by Drs. Riggins and Knowles before
Dr. Baker examined the horse. Under Departmental precedent,

examinations conducted after the horse has left the inspection area do
not generally warrant the same probative value as the Government
examinations because of the opportunity for tampering.
Pat Sparkman, et al., 50 Agric. Dec. 602, 610 (H.P.A. Dkt. No. 88-
58) (January 24, 1991). Richard L. Thornton et al., 41 Agric Dec.
870, 878 (H.P.A. Dkt. No. 125) (May 19, 1982), aft'd, 715 F.2d
1508 (llth Cir. 1983). Further, Dr. Baker testified that when

conducting a palpation examination he applies just enough pressure to
slightly pit the skin. Dr. Crichfield's testimony revealed that lightly
touching the skin in this manner is not a meaningful examination.
(Tr. 215) While Dr. Baker based his conclusion that "Flipping Gold _
was not sore on his physical examination, Dr. Baker would describe
the presence of "soreness," a legal conclusion, to exist only if it
resulted in a display of gait deficiency in both forelegs. While
respondent's other expert witness, Dr. Humburg, expressed caution
about relying on evidence derived from palpation under some
circumstances, he agreed that evidence of repeatable, localized,
responses to palpation, such as those displayed by "Flipping Gold,"
were an indication of noxious stimuli, rather than incidental reaction
to pressure, being handled, or reacting to distraction.

In In re William Earl Bobo, 53 Agric. Dec. 176, 185 (1994), aft'd, No. 94-
3311 (6th Cir. May 5, 1995), I adopted the decision of another ALJ who stated:

Dr. Baker's testimony impressed me as highly professional and
forthright. However, he has only limited experience in examining
horses for compliance with the Act. (Tr. 399) However, both he and
Dr. O'Brien revealed their misunderstanding of the examination
criteria by expressing the erroneous view that a horse must exhibit an
abnormal gait to be sore as defined by the Act. (Tr. 399, 404, 414-
415,443)

In In re Eddie C. Tuck (Decision as to Eddie C. Tuck), 53 Agric. Dec.
261,272 (1994), appeal voluntarily dismissed, No. 94-1887 (4th Cir. Oct. 6,
1994), I found:
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16. Dr. Randall Baker, a veterinarian, and a recognized expert
[in the "field of veterinary medicine in equine practice (Tr. 375),"]
has specialized in equine practice of fifteen years, including the
diagnoses of diseases and afflictions of Tennessee Walking Horses.
(Tr. 373-375) [However, unlike the APHIS VMOs, Dr. Baker is not
qualified as an expert indetecting artificially-inducedsoreness in these
horses. Dr. Baker admits that a significant portion of his income is
derived from employment by owners and trainers of Tennessee
Walking Horses. (Tr. 392) Complainant made an offer of proof at
the hearing, which I accept as evidence (7 C.F.R. § 1.141(g)(7)), that
Dr. Baker has "repeatedly been called upon by members of the
industry to examine their horses after those horses have been found
sore by the United States Departmentof Agriculture, and that he has,
in every case, testified that he has not found the horse to be sore." (Tr
389)]4

The foregoing is not to suggest any opinion by me as to the ultimate
outcome of this case. In fact, in view of the errors by the ALJdiscussed above,
I have not readthe record in this case, except for a limited review of some of
the references cited by the parties. Before reading the record and reaching a
final decision in this case, I would like to have the benefit of a revised Initial
Decision by the ALl, free from the errorsdiscussed above.

The ALl and the parties are advised that the unpublished decision by the
Sixth Circuit in Martin v. United States Dep't ofAgric., No. 94-3394 (6th Cir.
May 31, 1995), attached as an Appendix, may or may not be relevant to the
facts here. I am not sufficiently familiar with the present record to have any
view as to this matter.

For the foregoing reasons, the following Order should be issued.

4For examples of Dr. Baker's testimony, see In re Bill Young, 53 Agric. Dec. 1232, 1287 n.32

(1994), appeal docketed, No. 94-40818 (5th Cir. Aug. 25, 1994); In re Eddie C. Tuck (Decision

as to Eddie C. Tuck), 53 Agric. Dec. 261,272-73,303-04 (1994), appeal voluntarily dismissed, No.

94-1887 (4th Cir. Oct. 6, 1994); In re Judy Martin, 53 Agric. Dec. 212,220, 225-28,231 (1994),

rev'dper curiam, No. 94-3394 (6th Cir. May 31, 1995) (unpublished) (citation limited under 6th
Circuit Rule 24); In re Ernest Upton, 53 Agric. Dec. 239,245,251 (1994); In re William Earl

Bobo, 53 Agric. Dec. 176. 180, 184-86 (1994), aft'd, No. 94-3311 (6th Cir. May. 5, 1995); In re

Elizabeth Marie Hestle, 52 Agric. Dec. 1270, 1274, 1276 (1993); In re John Allan Callaway, 52

Agric. Dec. 272,277,282 (1993); hz re A.P. "Sonny" Holt, 49 Agric. Dec. 853,857 (1990).
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Order

The Second Initial Decision and Order filed in this proceeding is vacated

and the case is remanded to the Administrative Law Judge for the purpose of
filing a further Initial Decision and Order.

APPENDIX

Martin v. United States Dep't of Agric., No. 94-3394 (6th Cir. May 31, 1995)
(unpublished) (citation limited under 6th Circuit Rule 24).

In re: MARVIN PASTER.
I-IPA Docket No. 94-2.

Dismissal of Complaint filed June 14, 1995.

Colleen Carroll, for Complainant.
Respondent, Pro se.

Dismissal issued by Dorothea A. Baker, Administrative Law Judge.

The Complaint filed herein, on March 30, 1994, is dismissed without
prejudice.

Copies hereof shall be served upon the parties.

In re: CECIL JORDAN, SHERYL CRAWFORD, and RONALD R.
SMITH.
HPA Docket No. 91-23.

Order Lifting Stay filed February 23, 1996.

Donald A. Tracy, for Complainant.
John M. Harmon, Austin, TX, for Respondent.
Order issued by William G. Jenson, Judicial Officer.

On November 19, 1993, the Judicial Officer issued the final agency
Decision and Order holding that Ms. Crawford had violated the Horse
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Protection Act and assessing a $2,000 civil penalty and a one-year

disqualification from showing, exhibiting, or entering any horse, directly or
indirectly through any agent, employee, or other device, and from judging,

managing or otherwise participating in any horse show, horse exhibition, or
horse sale or auction, In re Cecil Jordan (Decision as to Sheryl Crawford), 52

Agric. Dec. 1214 (1993). Ms. Crawford appealed the Decision and the Judicial
Officer issued a stay pending the completion of proceedings for judicial review,

54 Agric. Dec. 449 (1995); 53 Agric. Dec. 536 (1994).
The agency decision was affirmed, Crawford v. United States Dep't of

Agric., 50 F.3d 46 (D.C. Cir. 1995), and the United States Supreme Court
denied Ms. Crawford's petition for writ of certiorari, 116 S. Ct. 88 (1995).
The United States Supreme Court's denial of Ms. Crawford's petition for writ
of certiorari concluded the proceedings for judicial review.

Therefore, the Stay Order is lifted. Ms. Crawford is to pay the $2,000
civil penalty by certified check or money order, made payable to the Treasurer
of the United States, and forwarded to Donald A. Tracy, Esq., Office of the
General Counsel, United States Department of Agriculture, Room 2014, South

Building, Washington, D.C. 20250-1400, within 30 days of the service of this
Order. The provisions of the one-year disqualification shall become effective
on the 30th day after service of this Order on Respondent.

In re: CECIL JORDAN, SHERYL CRAWFORD, and RONALD R.
SMITH.
HPA Docket No. 91-23.

Temporary Stay Order filed March 28, 1996.

Donald A. Tracy, for Complainant.
David N. Patterson, Willoughby, OH, for Respondent.
Order issued by William G. Jenson, Judicial Officer.

On November 19, 1993, the Judicial Officer issued the final agency

Decision and Order holding that Sheryl Crawford (hereafter Respondent) had
violated the Horse Protection Act and assessing a $2,000 civil penalty and a one-

year disqualification from showing, exhibiting, or entering any horse, directly
or indirectly through any agent, employee, or other device, and from judging,
managing or otherwise participating in any horse show, horse exhibition, or
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horse sale or auction, In re Cecil Jordan (Decision as to Sheryl Crawford), 52
Agric. Dec. 1214 (1993). Respondent appealed the Decision and the Judicial

Officer issued a stay pending the completion of proceedings for judicial review,
54 Agric. Dec. 449 (1995); 53 Agric. Dec. 536 (1994).

The agency decision was affirmed, Crawford v. United States Dep't of
Agric., 50 F.3d 46 (D.C. Cir. 1995), and the United States Supreme Court
denied Respondent's petition for writ of certiorari, 116 S. Ct. 88 (1995). Based
upon the denial of Respondent's petition for writ of certiorari, Complainant filed
a Motion to Lift Stay as to Sheryl Crawford which was granted by the Judicial
Officer on February 16, 1996. Pursuant to the Order Lifting Stay, Respondent
was to pay the assessed civil penalty no later than April 1, 1996, and begin a
one-year disqualification period on April 1, 1996.

Respondent filed a Motion to Stay Order of Judicial Officer on March 25,
1996, pending the disposition of Respondent's Motion for Leave to File a
Petition for Rehearing with the United States Supreme Court. Complainant
informed the Judicial Officer that Complainant intends to oppose Respondent's
Motion to Stay Order of Judicial Officer. Under the applicable Rules of
Practice, an opposing party may file a response to any written motion within 20

days after service of such written motion, or within such shorter or longer
period as may be fixed by the Judicial Officer. (7 C.F.R. § 1.143(d).)

Therefore, the Order previously issued in this case, which would have

required Respondent to pay the assessed civil penalty no later than April 1,
1996, and begin a one-year disqualification period on April 1, 1996, is stayed
pending the Judicial Officer's disposition of Respondent's Motion to Stay Order
of Judicial Officer. Any opposition to Respondent's Motion to Stay Order of
Judicial Officer shall be filed by Complainant no later than April 19, 1996.

In re: CECIL JORDAN, SHERYL CRAWFORD, and RONALD R.
SMITH.

HPA Docket No. 91-23.

Stay Order filed May 8, 1996.

DonaldA, Tracy, forComplainant.
DavidN. Patterson.Willoughby,OH, for Respondent.
Orderissuedby WilliamG. Jenson,JudicialOfficer.
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On November 19, 1993, the Judicial Officer issued the final agency

Decision and Order holding that Sheryl Crawford (hereinafter Respondent) had
violated the Horse Protection Act and assessing a $2,000 civil penalty and a 1-

year disqualification from showing, exhibiting, or entering any horse, directly
or indirectly through any agent, employee, or other device, and from judging,
managing, or otherwise participating in any horse show, horse exhibition, or
horse sale or auction. In re Cecil Jordan (Decision as to Sheryl Crawford), 52

Agric. Dec. 1214 (1993). Respondent appealed the Decision and the Judicial
Officer issued a Stay Order pending the completion of proceedings for judicial
review. In re Cecil Jordan (Stay Order), 53 Agric. Dec. 536 (1994).

The agency decision was affirmed, Crawford v. United States Dep't of
Agric., 50 F.3d 46 (D.C. Cir. 1995), and the Judicial Officer granted
Respondent's motion for another stay pending the outcome of Respondent's then
contemplated petition for a writ of certiorari. In re Cecil Jordan (Stay of
Execution), 54 Agric. Dec. 449 (1995). On October 2, 1995, the Supreme
Court of the United States denied Respondent's petition for a writ of certiorari,
116 S. Ct. 88 (1995). Based upon the denial of Respondent's petition for a writ
of certiorari, Complainant filed a Motion to Lift Stay as to Sheryl Crawford
which was granted by the Judicial Officer on February 16, 1996. Pursuant to
the Order Lifting Stay, Respondent was to pay the assessed civil penalty no later
than April 1, 1996, and begin a 1-year disqualification period on April 1, 1996.

Respondent filed a Motion to Stay Order of Judicial Officer on March 25,
1996, pending the disposition of Respondent's Motion for Leave to File Petition
for Reheating with the Supreme Court of the United States which, at that time,
Respondent only planned to file. I issued a Temporary Stay Order on March
28, 1996, to provide the Complainant with an opportunity to respond to
Respondent's Motion to Stay Order of Judicial Officer.

Complainant filed Complainant's Opposition to Respondent's Motion to
Stay the Judicial Officer's Order on April 1l, 1996, and the matter was referred
to the Judicial Officer on April 16, 1996. Complainant opposes Respondent's
Motion to Stay Order of Judicial Officer on the ground that a petition for

reheating of an order denying a petition for a writ of certiorari must be filed
within 25 days after the date of the order of denial. (Rule 44 of the Rules of the

Supreme Court of the United States.)
On May 7, 1996, Respondent filed a Motion for Leave to File Petition for

Reheating with the Supreme Court of the United States. Respondent has not
filed a petition for rehearing to which Rule 44 of the Rules of the Supreme
Court of the United States is applicable, but rather filed a motion for leave to

file a petition for rehearing.
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Therefore, the Order previously issued in this case, which would have

required Respondent to pay the assessed civil penalty no later than April 1,
1996, and begin a 1-year disqualification period on April 1, 1996, which was
temporarily stayed on March 28, 1996, is stayed pending the outcome of
proceedings for judicial review.

This Stay Order shall remain in effect until it is lifted by the Judicial
Officer or vacated by a court of competent jurisdiction.

In re: JACKIE McCONNELL.
HPA Docket No. 91-162.

Order Modifying Order Lifting Stay Order filed May 8, 1996.

Sharlene A. Deskins, for Complainant.

Carthel L. Smith, Lexington, TN, for Respondent.

Order issued by William G. Jenson, Judicial 02ffcer.

This proceeding was instituted under the Horse Protection Act, as amended,

(15 U.S.C. §§ 1821-1831) (hereinafter the Act) by a Complaint filed on April
30, 1991, by the Administrator, Animal and Plant Health Inspection Service,
United States Department of Agriculture. The Complaint alleged that Jackie
McConnell (hereinafter Respondent) entered for the purpose of showing or
exhibiting a horse known as Executive Order at the Tennessee Walking Horse
National Celebration at Shelbyville, Tennessee, while the horse was sore. On

March 4, 1993, Chief Administrative Law Judge Victor W. Palmer (hereinafter
Chief ALJ) issued an Initial Decision and Order finding that Respondent violated
the Act. The Chief ALl assessed a $2,000 civil penalty against Respondent and
disqualified Respondent from showing, exhibiting, or entering any horse,
directly or indirectly through any agent, employee, or otherwise, and from
judging, managing, or otherwise participating in any horse show, horse

exhibition, or horse sale or auction for 2 years. Both parties appealed to the
Judicial Officer who issued a Decision and Order on September 16, 1993,
affirming the Chief ALJ's Initial Decision. In re Jackie McConnell (Decision
as to Jackie McConnell), 52 Agric. Dec. 1156 (1993).

Respondent appealed to the United States Court of Appeals for the Sixth
Circuit and filed a Motion for Stay Pending Review with the Judicial Officer

who granted Respondent's motion. In re Jackie McConnell, 52 Agric. Dec.
1172 (1993). The United States Court of Appeals for the Sixth Circuit affirmed
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the Decision and Order of the Judicial Officer on April 29, 1994. McConnell
v. United States Dep't of Agric., 23 F.3d 407 (6th Cir. 1994) (Table), and
subsequently denied Respondent's petition for rehearing. McConnell v. United
States Dep't of Agric. (Order of June 15, 1994).

Complainant filed a Report to the Judicial Officer and Motion to Lift Stay
on February 9, 1995, which was not opposed by Respondent. The Judicial
Officer lifted the Stay Order on February 14, 1995, In re Jackie McConneU, 54

Agric Dec. 448 (1995), and, in so doing, ordered that Respondent pay the
$2,000 civil penalty within 30 days from the date of service on Respondent of
the Order Lifting Stay Order and begin the 2-year disqualification period on the
30th day after service on Respondent of the Order Lifting Stay Order.
Respondent was served on February 17, 1995, and Respondent's 2-year
disqualification period began on March 19, 1995.

On February 15, 1996, Respondent filed a Motion to Correct Order
(hereinafter RM); on February 29, 1996, Complainant filed an Opposition to
Respondent's Motion to Correct Order; and on March 1, 1996, the matter was
referred to the Judicial Officer.

Respondent requested that the Order Lifting Stay Order be amended so that
Respondent's 2-year disqualification period begins September 13, 1994, rather
than March 19, 1995.

Respondent asserted in his Motion to Correct Order that after the United
States Court of Appeals for the Sixth Circuit's June 15, 1994, denial of his
petition for rehearing, he had 90 days, ending September 13, 1994, in which to
file a petition for a writ of certiorari with the Supreme Court of the United
States, and that his failure to file such a petition within that 90-day period ended

all possibility of further proceedings for judicial review. (RM, pp. 1-2.)
Respondent stated that he "assumed that the Stay Order would be automatically
lifted on September 13, 1994," and that he "refrained from all activity
prohibited by the disqualification since said time." (RM, p. 2.)

Respondent's Motion to Correct Order did not indicate the basis for
Respondent's assumption that the Stay Order was automatically lifted on
September 13, 1994; did not reference any evidence that Respondent actually
began his 2-year disqualification period on September 13, 1994; did not explain
the apparent inconsistency between Respondent's belief that the Stay Order was
automatically lifted on September 13, 1994, and Respondent's failure to pay the

civil penalty assessed within the required 30 days after Respondent purportedly
believed the Stay Order had been automatically lifted; did not explain
Respondent's failure to oppose Complainant's Report to the Judicial Officer and
Motion to Lift Stay; and did not explain the 363-day period between service on
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Respondent of the Order Lifting Stay Order and Respondent's Motion to Correct
Order. t On March 11, 1996, I issued a Ruling on Respondent's Motion to
Correct Order Lifting Stay Order in which I denied Respondent's motion based
upon my finding that Respondent's assertions that he assumed the Stay Order
was automatically removed on September 13, 1994, and that he "refrained from
all activity prohibited by the disqualification since [September 13, 1994,]" were
not credible.

On March 20, 1996, Respondent filed a Petition to Rehear or Reconsider
Ruling of Judicial Officer (hereinafter RP) requesting reconsideration of the
Judicial Officer's March 11, 1996, ruling. Complainant filed no response to
Respondent's petition, and on May 6, 1996, the matter was referred to the
Judicial Officer.

Respondent asserts in his petition that after the United States Court of

Appeals for the Sixth Circuit denied his petition for rehearing, McConnell v.
United States Dep't of Agric. (Order of June 15, 1994), Respondent's counsel
advised Stephen M. Reilly, the United States Department of Agriculture attorney
defending against Respondent's appeal, that Respondent would not file a petition
for a writ of certiorari and that "it was further agreed that Respondent could

continue [to show, exhibit, and enter horses and judge, manage, and otherwise
participate in horse shows, exhibitions, sales, and auctions until the 90-day
period for filing a petition for a writ of certiorari had expired.]" (RP, p. 2.)
Further, Respondent asserts that he did not wait 363 days after service of the
Order Lifting Stay Order to ask for a correction of the Order Lifting Stay
Order.

Attached to Respondent's petition are two letters, dated February 20, 1995,
and May 4, 1995, Respondent sent to Mr. Reilly. The February 20, 1995,
letter, states:

Mr. Stephen M. Reilly
U.S. Department of Agriculture
Office of the General Counsel

14th and Incependence Avenue, S.W.
Suite 2036-S

Washington, D.C. 20250-1400

_Respondent sated in his Motion to Correct Order that he "made repeated requests to correct

and/or amend the Order to no avail." (RM, p. 3.) However, a thorough review of the record

revealed no request by Respondent asking for a correction or amendment of the Order Lifting Stay

Order prior to Respondent's Motion to Correct Order filed February 15, 1996.
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In re: Jackie McConnell and Floyd Sherman
HPA Docket No. 91-162.

Dear Mr. Reilly:

Enclosed herewith is a copy of the Order Lifting Stay Order that
has been forwarded to my office by the Judicial Officer.

As you recall, Mr. McConnell's suspension was to start around
the first of September, 1994 and the government then notified the
National Horse Show Regulatory Committee of the suspension date.
Therefore, Mr. McConnell has now been on suspension for

approximately six (6) months.

Please let me hear from you at your earliest convenience.

Sincerely,

Carthel L. Smith, Jr,

Based on Respondent's petition, I find that Respondent incorrectly assumed
that the Stay Order was automatically lifted in September 1994; that Respondent
refrained from all activities prohibited by the disqualification beginning in

September 1994; and that employees of the United States Department of
Agriculture responsible for enforcement of the Act were aware of Respondent's
assumption that he was disqualified as of September 1994, and that Respondent
had been acting on this assumption since September 1994.

Stay Orders issued by the Judicial Officer pending the outcome of judicial
review are not automatically lifted upon conclusion of judicial review. Instead,
action must be taken to lift Stay Orders, and there are numerous instances in
which the Judicial Officer has lifted Stay Orders in administrative proceedings

instituted for violations of the Act. See, e.g., In re Jackie McConnell, 54 Agric
Dec. 448 (1995); In re William Dwaine Elliott, 52 Agric. Dec. 1372 (1993);

In re Larry E. Edwards, 51 Agric. Dec. 436 (1992); In re Eldon Stamper, 43
Agric. Dec. 829 (1984); In re Preach Fleming, 43 Agric. Dec. 829 (1984); In
re Joe Fleming, 43 Agric. Dec. 829 (1984); In re Albert Lee Rowland, 43
Agric. Dec. 799 (1984). Nonetheless, given the unique circumstances in this
case, the disqualification provision in the Order Lifting Stay Order previously
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entered in this case2 is modified to read as follows: The disqualification
provisions of the Order previously filed herein, (In re Jackie McConneU
(Decision as to Jackie McConnell), 52 Agric. Dec. 1156 (1993)), are effective

on September 13, 1994, nuncpro tunc, and end September 13, 1996.
This Order shall take effect immediately.

In re: GALLO CATI'LE COMPANY, a CALIFORNIA LIMITED
PARTNERSHIP.
NDPRB Docket No. 96-1.

Order Denying Interim Relief filed May 29, 1996.

Gregory Cooper, for Respondent.
Brian C. Leighton, Clovis, California, and James A. Moody, Washington, D.C., for Petitioner.
Order issued by William G. Jenson, Judicial Officer.

On April 16, 1996, Petitioner filed a petition pursuant to section 118(a) of
the Dairy Production Stabilization Act of 1983, (7 U.S.C. § 4509(a)), rextuesting
an exemption from or modification of the Dairy Promotion and Research Order,
(7 C.F.R. §§ 1150.101-. 187). Paragraph 27 of the petition states that:

27. Petitioner is also entitled to interim relief, injunctive relief
allowing Petitioner to escrow [assessments] in an interest-bearing
account pending a decision of the case on the merits so that
Petitioner's [assessments] are not used by the [National Dairy
Promotion and Research] Board to convey the messages complained
of herein, and so that there is an available source of money to refund
when Petitioner prevails.

Petition, p. 12.

On May 14, 1996, Respondent filed Answer of Respondent which
addressed Petitioner's request for interim relief by stating that it constitutes a
"prayer for relief and, therefore, does not require an answer." (Answer of
Respondent, p. 3.) The case was referred to the Judicial Officer on May 15,
1996, for a decision regarding Petitioner's request for interim relief.

Petitioner's request for interim relief is denied for the following reasons.

21nre Jackie McConnell, 54 Agric. Dec. 448 (1995).



GALLOCATTLECOMPANY 341
55 Agric.Dee. 340

First, interim relief is not available to Petitioner. The Rules of Practice

governing this proceeding, (7 C.F.R. §§ 900.52(c)(2)-.71, 1200.50-.52), provide
that n[a] person who has filed a petition pursuant to [7 C.F.R.] § 900.52 may
by separate application filed with the hearing clerk apply to the Secretary [flor
an order postponing the effective date of, or suspending the application of, the
marketing order or any provision thereof, or any obligation imposed in
connection therewith, pending final determination of the proceeding." (7 C.F.R.
§ 900.70(a).) However, the petition-filingprovisions in 7 C.F.R. § 900.52 are

not applicable to this proceeding. Rather, the petition-filing provisions
applicable to this proceeding are set forth in 7 C.F.R. § 1200.52. The petition
herein was properly filed pursuant to 7 C.F.R. § 1200.52, not 7 C.F.R. §
900.52; therefore, interim relief, which is only available to persons who have
filed a petition pursuant to 7 C.F.R. § 900.52, is not available to Petitioner.

Second, even if interim relief had been available to Petitioner in this
proceeding, Petitioner has not complied with the requirements for filing an
application for interim relief. (7 C.F.R. § 900.70(a), (b).) Petitioner's request
for interim relief is included in its petition for exemption from or modification

of the Dairy Promotion and Research Order, (7 C.F.R. §§ 1150.101-. 187). The
applicable Rules of Practice require that Petitioner file a separate application for
interim relief. (7 C.F.R. § 900.70(a).)

Third, even if interim relief had been available to Petitioner in this

proceeding and Petitioner had filed a separate application for interim relief in
accordance with the applicable Rules of Practice, Petitioner's request for interim
relief would be denied based upon established precedent. The Judicial Officer
has consistently denied applications for interim relief from marketing orders
because interim relief would work directly in opposition to the purposes of the

marketing order from which interim relief is sought and the act under which the
marketing order is issued, and could harm the public interest if provisions of the
marketing order were, in effect, suddenly terminated by granting interim relief
to the applicant and others who plan to file similar applications for interim
relief. In re Dole DF&N, Inc., 53 Agric. Dec. 527 (1994); In re Cal-Almond,
Inc., 53 Agric. Dec. 527 (1994); In re Gerawan Farming, Inc., 52 Agric. Dec.
925 (1993); In re Independent Handlers, 51 Agile. Dec. 122 (1992); In re Cal-
Almond, Inc., 50 Agric. Dec. 670 (1991); In re Saulsbury Orchards & Almond

Processing, Inc., 49 Agric. Dec. 836 (1990); In re Lansing Dairy, Inc., 48
Agile. Dec. 867 (1989); In re Gerawan Co., Inc., 48 Agile. Dec. 79 (1989);
In re Cal-Almond, Inc., 48 Agric. Dec. 15 (1989); In re Wileman Bros. &
EUiott, Inc., 47 Agric. Dec. 1109 (1988), reconsideration denied, 47 Agric.

Dec. 1263 (1988); In re Wileman Bros. & Elliott, Inc., 46 Agric. Dec. 765
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(1987), reconsideration denied, 46 Agric. Dec. 765 (1987); In re Saulsbury
Orchards & Almond Processing, Inc., 46 Agric. Dec. 561 (1987); In re Borden,

Inc., 44 Agric. Dec. 661 (1985); In re Sequoia Orange Co., 43 Agric. Dec.
1719 (1984); In re Dean Foods Co., 42 Agric. Dec. 1048 (1983); In re Moser
Farm Dairy, Inc., 40 Agric. Dec. 1246, 1246-50 (1981). The reasons for

denial of applications for interim relief from marketing orders are applicable to
Petitioner's application for interim relief from the Dairy Promotion and
Research Order, (7 C.F.R. §§ 1150.101-.187), issued pursuant to the Dairy
Production Stabilization Act of 1983, (7 U.S.C. §§ 4501-4513).

For the foregoing reasons, the following Order should be issued.

Order

Petitioner's application for interim relief is denied.

In re: HA1 HOANG.

P.Q. Docket No. 96-14.

Dismissal of Complaint filed April 25, 1996.

ScottSafian,forComplainant.
Respondent,Prose.
Orderissuedby VictorW. Palmer,ChiefAdministrativeLaw Judge.

Upon consideration of complainant's Motion To Dismiss and for Good

Cause Shown, the complaint in the above-captioned case is hereby dismissed.

In re: MENELAS OSIT.

P.Q. Docket No. 96-24.

Dismissal of Complaint filed May 10, 1996.

JaneH. Settle,forComplainant.
Respondent,Pro se.
Orderissuedby VictorW. Palmer,ChiefAdministrativeLawJudge.
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At Complainant's request and For Good Cause Shown, the complaint is
hereby dismissed.
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CONSENT DECISIONS

(Notpublishedherein-Editor)

AGRICULTURAL MARKETING AGREEMENT ACT

Panoche Creek Packing Corporation. AMAA Docket No. 96-2. 5/3/96.

Panoche Creek Packing Corporation. 94 AMA Docket No. F&V 981-6.
5/3/96.

ANIMAL QUARANTINE AND RELATED LAWS

Larry Coffman. A.Q. Docket No. 95-30. 1/2/96.

Anton L. Wald. A.Q. Docket No. 96-01. 1/19/96.

Don E. Bridges. A.Q. Docket No. 95-2. 2/20/96.

Richard Stayer. A.Q. Docket No. 94-39. 2/22/96.

Murphy Farms, Inc. A.Q. Docket No. 95-45. 2/29/96.

T.R. Green. A.Q. Docket No. 96-05. 2/29/96.

Lawrence Bishop. A.Q. Docket No. 96-08. 3/20/96.

Avco Meat Company. A.Q. Docket No. 95-45. 4/5/96.

Robert Robben. A.Q. Docket No. 95-27. 4124196.

ANIMAL WELFARE ACT

Leo W. Hovar and Shelda J. Hovar, d/b/a Hovar's Doggie World.
AWA Docket No. 95-54. 1/17/96.

Essex County, d/b/a Turtle Back Zoo. AWA Docket No. 95-73. 1/19/96.

Santa's Pet Farm, Inc., and Francis R. Mercier. AWA Docket No. 95-82.
2/21/96.
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Deer Acres, Inc. and Rodger L. Cederberg. AWA Docket No. 95-51.
2/27/96.

Arda E. Lee, d/b/a Hidden Hollow Park. AWA Docket No. 96438. 2/27/96.

George A. Rilling and Stone Mountain Game Ranch, Inc. d/b/a Yellow River
Game Ranch. AWA Docket No. 95-66. 2/28/96.

Arashiyama West Primate Center/South Texas Primate Observatory, Lou
Griffin, and Tracy Wyman. AWA Docket No. 95-64. 2/29/96.

Bruce TrammeU and Nancy Trammell d/b/a Trammell Trail Treasures. AWA
Docket No. 95-68. 3/I/96.

John D. Davenport d/b/a King Royal Circus. AWA Docket No. 96-18. 3/4/96.

State University of New York at Buffalo. AWA Docket No. 96-10. 3/11/96.

Gregory W. Fedechko, Anne Fedechko, and South Jersey Biological Farm, Inc..
AWA Docket No. 95-39. 3/12/96.

Bradley Baehman and Wanda Bachman. AWA Docket No. 95-62.4/15/96.

John F. Cuneo and The Hawthorn Corp. AWA Docket No. 96-11. 5/7/96.

Northwest Airlines, Inc. AWA Docket No. 95-05. 5/8/96.

Jim Hughes and Sue Hughes, d/b/a Do-Bo-Tri Kennels. AWA Docket No. 95-
58. 5/8/96.

City of Crossett d/b/a Crossland Zoo. AWA Docket No. 96-39. 5/21/96.

Dave Knight. AWA Docket No. 95-43. 6/12/96.

Robert Vader and Linda Vader, d/b/a Vader's Bunny and Pets.
AWA Docket No. 96-23. 6/13/96.

The Coulston Foundation. AWA Docket No. 95-65. 6/14/96.
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Bela Tabak. AWA Docket No. 96-17. 6/14/96.

Nancy Kutz d/b/a Kutz's Kountry Kennel. AWA Docket No. 95-46. 6/19/96.

Lorin Womack, d/b/a Land O'Lorin Exotics. AWA Docket No. 95-32.
6/19/96.

Norman Trosper, d/b/a Dawg Gone Kennel. AWA Docket No. 96-32.6/25/96.

New York University Medical Center. AWA Docket Nos. 95-36 and 96-42.
6/28/96.

FEDERAL MEAT INSPECTION ACT

C.D. Moyer Company, Freda Corporation, Kohler Delicatessen Meats, Inc.,
and Matthew JA. Guiffrida. FMIA Docket No. 93-2/PPlA Docket No. 93-1.
3/20/96.

Velasam Veal Connection, Simon Samson, Gordon Durler, and Douglas
Achterberg. FMIA Docket No. 96-6/PPlA Docket No. 96-5. 3/26/96.

Norfolk Packing Company, Inc., also d/b/a J.S. Bell, Jr. & Company, Div.,
and Jack Cohen. FMIA Docket No. 95-6/PPIA Docket No. 95-5. 3/28/96.

HORSE PROTECTION ACT

Brian Reece. HPA Docket No. 92-34. 3/14/96.

INSPECTION AND GRADING ACT

Farmington Foods, Inc. I & G Docket No. 96-0001. 6/27/96.

PLANT QUARANTINE ACT

American Airlines, Inc. P.Q. Docket No. 96-02. 2/5/96.

American Airlines, Inc. P.Q. Docket No. 96-06. 2/9/96.

German Carrazana. P.Q. Docket No. 96-08. 3/6/96.
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American Airlines, Inc. P.Q. Docket No. 96-17. 4/2/96.

Tonya Anstett. P.Q. Docket No. 96-19. 4/2/96.

Farias & Farias, Inc. P.Q. Docket No. 95-51. 4/3/96.

American Airlines. P.Q. Docket No. 96-20. 5/15/96.

Bihari Lall and Ramela Trading Inc. P.Q. Docket No. 95-26. 5/17/96.

Valentin Garcia. P.Q. Docket No. 96-12. 5/17/96.

Heidema Brothers, Inc. P.Q. Docket No. 96-27. 6/5/96.

Ankrum Trucking, Inc. P.Q. Docket No. 96-27. 6/5/96.

Stan Koch and Sons. P.Q. Docket No. 96-27. 6/5/96.

Cornilios M. Forbes and Flushing Tropical Import & Export, Inc.
P.Q. Docket No. 96-01. 6/11/96.
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PACKERS AND STOCKYARDS ACT

MISCELLANEOUS ORDER

In re: RIVERBEND CATI_E COMPANY and JOHN WHEELER.
P&S Docket No. D-95-10.

Order on Motion Requesting Imposition of Sanction Against Respondents
for Failure to Comply with Terms of Consent Decision filed June 17, 1996.

KimberlyD. Hart, for Complainant.
DwightD. Sutherland, Jr., KansasCity, MO, for Respondent.
OrderissuedbyDorotheaA. Baker,AdministrativeLaw Judge.

On May 6, 1996, Complainant flied a Motion Requesting Imposition of
Sanction Against Respondents for Failure to Comply with Terms of Consent
Decision. Respondents tided a Response on June 4, 1996, seeking an
extension until July 1, 1996, within which to comply. On June 14, 1996,
Complainant fried a document indicating it would not agree to the requested
extension. Therefore, the following Order is issued:

Order

Respondents John Wheeler and Riverbend Cattle Company are
suspended as registrants under the Act for a period of five years. Provided,
however, that upon application to the Grain Inspection, Packers and
Stockyards Administration, Packers and Stockyards Programs, a Supplemental
Order may be issued terminating the suspension of the Respondents at any

time after ninety (90) days upon demonstration by the Respondents that all
livestock sellers identified by the Complaint in this proceeding have been paid
in full, and provided, further, that this order may be modified upon application
to the Packers and Stockyards Programs, GIPSA, to permit the salaried
employment of Respondent John Wheeler by another registrant or packer
after the expiration of the initial ninety (90) days of this suspension terms and
upon circumstances warranting modification of the Order.

Copies hereof shall be served upon all parties.
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PACKERS AND STOCKYARDS ACT

CONSENT DECISIONS

(Not published herein.-Editor)

Jimmy Hughes. P&S Docket No. D-95-35. 1/17/96.

Gregory W. Shipman. P&S Docket No. D-95-57. 1/23/96.

Riverbend Cattle Company and John Wheeler. P&S Docket No. D-95-10.
2/1/96.

Taylor Packing Co., Inc., Harold A. Roney. P&S Docket No. D-95-21.
2/12/96.

Empire Kosher Poultry, Inc., Lenard Tessler and Matthew Soccio.
P&S Docket No. D-96-06. 2/29/96.

Aiken Livestock, Sam Aiken, Jerry Aiken, Jack Aiken and Jeff Aiken.
P&S Docket No. D-96-07. 3/8/96.

C.R. (Rick) Nejmanowski. P&S Docket No. D-95-39. 3/20/96.

Milan Brumit. P&S Docket No. D-96-09. 3/28/96.

Barry Kort. P&S Docket No. D-95-19. 4/2/96.

Thomas G. Olin. P&S Docket No. D-94-20. 4/24/96.

Harold L. Marshall. P&S Docket No. D-96-08. 4/29/96.

J.B. Richards. P&S Docket No. D-96-16. 4/30/96.

Joe A. Fritz d/b/a Mid West Cattle Co. P&S Docket No. D-95-05. 5/2/96.

Gaines Hughes. P&S Docket No. D-96-14. 5/9/96.

Fresh Meat Export Co., Inc. and Herve Solandt. P&S Docket No. D-96-01.

5/14/96.
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Jack-Rich, Inc. P&S Docket No. D-95-39. 5/31/96.
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PERISHABLE AGRICULTURAL COMMODITIES ACT

ERRATA

NORINSBERG CORPORATION v. UNITED STATES DEPARTMENT OF
AGRICULTURE.
No. 93-1842.
Errata.

In the Court Decision published at 54 Agric. Dec. 634, the correct name of
the United States Court of Appeals that decided the case is the "DISTRICT OF
COLUMBIA CIRCUIT."

In re: ATLANTIC PRODUCE CO. AND JOSEPH PINTO.
PACA Docket No. D-94-533.
Errata.

In the Decision and Order issued by Donald A. Campbell, Judicial Officer
on March 22, 1995, and published at 54 Agric. Dec. 701, several lines were
omitted from the final page of the Decision. The last two paragraphs of the
Decision on page 715 should read as follows:

Although Cairo mentions briefly the Department's severe sanction

policy, which has not been followed since S.S. Farms Linn County,
supra, the overriding doctrine set forth in Caito is that, because of the
peculiar nature of the perishable agricultural commodities industry, and
the Congressional purpose that only financially responsible persons should
be engaged in the perishable agricultural commodities industry, excuses
why payment was not made in a particular case are not sufficient to
prevent a license revocation where there have been repeated failures to
pay a substantial amount of money, usually over an extended period of
time. That doctrine is not altered by the new sanction policy set forth in
S.S. Farms Linn County.

For the foregoing reasons, the following Order should be issued.
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PERISHABLE AGRICULTURAL COMMODITIES ACT

REPARATION DECISIONS

DANIEL P. CROWLEY and MICHAEL D. CROWLEY d/b/a SHAMROCK
FARMS of CALIFORNIA v. CALFLO PRODUCE, INC.
PACA Docket No. R-94-174.

Decision and Order filed May 16, 1996.

Acceptance of Rejection - meaningless where rejection effective.
Rejection - title reverts to seller where effective.
Rejection - Duties of Receiver After - obligation to resell.
Burden of Proof - Rejected Goods - upon seller to prove contract warranty inapplicable, and
absence of agent or place of business in market of rejection.

Where buyer made an effective rejection of load of strawberries the title automatically reverted
to seller, and seller had burden of proving contractualwarrantyinapplicable. Seller's refusal to
accept rejection was meaningless, and seller had a primary duty to dispose of goods. Where
seller did not dispose of goods, buyer's duty to dispose of goods was contingent upon seller
having no agent or place of business in market of rejection, and burden of proof was on seller
to establish that it had no such agent or place of business, However, where buyer assumed duty
of resale, it was assumed that duty did rest on buyer, but buyer was held only to good faith
standards in making resale.

George S. Whitten, Presiding Officer.
Thomas R. Oliveri, Newport Beach, CA, for Complainant.
Lawrence H. Meuers. Naples, Florida, for Respondent.
Decision and Order issued by William G. Jenson, Judicial Officer.

Preliminary Statement

This is a reparation proceeding under the Perishable Agricultural Com-

modities Act, 1930, as amended (7 U.S.C. § 499a et seq.). A timely complaint

was filed in which complainant seeks an award of reparation in the amount

of $9,199.50 in connection with a transaction in interstate commerce involving
one truckload of strawberries.

Copies of the report of investigation prepared by the Department were

served upon the parties. A copy of the formal complaint was served upon
respondent which filed an answer thereto denying liability to complainant.

Respondent's answer included a counterclaim for damages "in excess of

$1,500.00" arising out of the same transaction as that covered by the

complaint. Complainant did not file a reply to the counterclaim.

The amount claimed in the formal complaint does not exceed $15,000.00,
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and therefore the shortened method of procedure provided in the Rules of
Practice (7 C.F.R. § 47.20) is applicable. 1 Pursuant to this procedure, the
verified pleadings of the parties are considered a part of the evidence in the
case as is the Department's report of investigation. In addition, the parties
were given an opportunity to file evidence in the form of sworn statements.
Complainant filed an opening statement, respondent filed an answering
statement, and complainant filed a statement in reply. Complainant also flied
a brief.

Findings of Fact

1. Complainant is a partnership composed of Daniel P. Crowley and
Michael D. Crowley, doing business as Shamrock Farms of California, whose
address is P. O. Box 58, Watsonville, California. At the time of the transac-
tion involved herein complainant was licensed under the Act.

2. Respondent, Caiflo Produce, Inc., is a corporation whose address is
1284 West Main Street, Santa Maria, California. At the time of the
transaction involved herein respondent was licensed under the Act.

3. On or about May 21, 1993, complainant sold to respondent, and
shipped from Watsonville, California, to respondent's customer in Ft. Worth,
Texas, one truck load of strawberries, consisting of 2,688 fiats, each fiat
containing 12 dry pint baskets, at a price of $6.00 per fiat, plus $644.00 for
Tectrol, and $23.50 for a temperature recorder, or a total of $16,795.50, f.o.b.

4. The truck load of strawberries arrived at the place of business of

respondent's customer, Albertson's, in Ft. Worth, Texas, on May 24, 1993, and
was rejected by respondent's customer. Respondent promptly rejected the
load of strawberries to complainant. Complainant informed respondent that
it was "not accepting any rejection" and requested that respondent secure an
inspection of the strawberries. A federal inspection was performed at the

place of business of respondent's customer at 12:30 p.m. on May 24, 1993,
while the strawberries were still loaded on the truck with the doors open. The
inspection revealed in relevant part as follows:

IEffectiveNovember15,1995,the threshold amount necessaryfor hearings in reparation
actions wasraised to $30,000byPublicLaw104-48.
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LOT TEMPERATURES PRODUCE BRAND/MARKING ORIGIN LOT ID NUMBER OF INSP,

CONTAINERS COUNI'

A 39 Io 44 "F Strawberries "Short Cake" 12 CA 2688 flats N

DJ'y Pint Baskets

LOT AVERAGE including Including OFFSIZE/DEFE, CF OTHER

DEFECTS SER DAM V.S. DAM

A 02 % 02 % %Bruising Calyxes fresh &

green. Decay is m

moderate stages.

06 % 06 % %Decay (0-28%)
08 % 08 e/e %Checksum

GRADE:

REMARKS: Restricted to all layers of 8 accessible pallets nearest rear trailer doors.

5. Respondent contacted complainant by phone and it was agreed that the
berries needed to be sold as quickly as possible. With complainant's approval
the berries were given to Market Dist. in Dallas on an open basis, with the
understanding that they had a sale of the berries at $4.00 per flat. J.M.
Wholesale Produce Dist. purchased the berries for $4.00 per flat, and resold
them to W.W. Rodgers & Sons in Dallas, Texas for the same price.

6. On the following day, at 9:10 a.m., the load was inspected again during
the process of unloading at the place of business of W.W. Rodgers & Sons,
in Dallas, Texas. This inspection showed temperatures of 38 to 41 degrees,

1 percent quality defects in the form of misshapen berries, 6 percent bruising
(with a range of 0 to 15 percent), and 6 percent decay (with a range of 0 to
18 percent). It was noted that the berries failed "to grade U.S. No. 1 only
account condition defects."

7. An informal complaint was filed on August 17, 1993, which was within
nine months after the cause of action alleged herein accrued.

Conclusions

Complainant brings this action to recover the balance of the purchase price
of a load of strawberries sold and shipped to respondent. Respondent asserts
that the load was in such condition on arrival as to show that the contract had

been breached, that the load was promptly rejected, and that complainant
refused to accept the rejection. Respondent maintains that complainant
agreed to the disposition of the load, and to the amount realized from such
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disposition. Respondent also contends that it overpaid complainant, and that
complainant's breach of contract, coupled with respondent's overpayment,
resulted in damages to respondent in excess of $1,500.00, which respondent
seeks to recover in its counterclaim.

It is clear that respondent made a timely rejection of the strawberries. The
Regulations give a buyer eight hours after notice of arrival of a truck
shipment, and the produce is made accessible for inspection, in which to effect
a rejection. 2 Notice of rejection must be in clear and unmistakable terms:
Such notice was given in this case, and indeed complainant admits that it
received notice of rejection. Thus respondent's rejection was procedurally
effective .4

Once a buyer has made a procedurally effective rejection title to the goods
automatically reverts to the seller: Thereupon a seller must take possession
of the goods even if the rejection was substantively wrongful. 6 It is therefore
meaningless for a seller to state that it refuses to accept an effective
rejection. 7 In addition, following an effective rejection the seller has the
burden of proving by a preponderance of the evidence that the rejection was

27 C.F.R.§§ 46.2(bb)and (cc)(2).

3Farm MarketSen,ice,Inc.v.Albertson's,Inc.,42 Agric.Dec.429 (1983).

4See Pope Packing & Sales, Inc. _'. Santa Fe Vegetable Growers Cooperative Association, Inc.,
38 Agric. Dec. 101 (1979). See also J. White & R. Summers. Handbook of the Law Under the

Uniform Commercial Code. § 7-3. and § 8-3 at p. 264 (1972).

5The Uniform Commercial Code makes a distinction between procedurally effective and

substantively wrongful rejections. Subsection 4 of UCC § 2 - 401 provides:

A rejection or other refusal by the buyer to receive or retain the goods, whether or not

_, or a justified revocation of acceptance revests title to the goods in the seller.
Such revesting occurs by operation of law and is not a "sale". (emphasis supplied)

Thus it has been held that where there was a wrongful but procedurally effective rejection title

to the goods was vested in the seller. Bruce Chttrch, lnc. v. Tested Best Foods Division of Kane-

Miller Corp. and/or Frank C. Crispo, Inc., 28 Agric. Dec. 377 (1969).

6yokoyarna Bros. v. Cal-Veg Sales, 41 Agric. Dec. 535 (1982); Produce Brokers & Distributors,
lnc. v. Monsottr's, Inc., 36 Agric. Dec. 2022 (1977).

7Cal/Mex Disa'ibutors, Inc. v. Torn Lange Company, Inc., 46 Agric. Dec. 1113 (1987).
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substantively wrongful, s This extends to the duty of proving, if necessary in
the case of an f.o.b, sale, that transportation services and conditions were

abnormal so as to make the warranty of suitable shipping condition inapplica-
ble. 9

The strawberries were sold on an f.o.b, basis. The Regulations, _° in
relevant part, define f.o.b, as meaning "that the produce quoted or sold is to

be placed free on board the boat, car, or other agency of the through land
transportation at shipping point, in suitable shipping condition .... and that
the buyer assumes all risk of damage and delay in transit not caused by the
seller irrespective of how the shipment is billed." Suitable shipping condition
is defined, j_ in relevant part, as meaning, "that the commodity, at time of
billing, is in a condition which, if the shipment is handled under normal
transportation service and conditions, will assure delivery without abnormal

deterioration at the contract destination agreed upon between the parties."
The suitable shipping condition provisions of the Regulations (7 C.F.R. §

46.43(j)) which require delivery to contract destination "without abnormal

deterioration," or what is elsewhere called "good delivery" (7 C.F.R. § 46.44),
are based upon case law predating the adoption of the RegulationsJ 2 Under
the rule it is not enough that a commodity sold f.o.b., U.S. No. 1, actually be
U.S. No. 1 at time of shipment. It must also be in such a condition at the

time of shipment that it will make good delivery at contract destination. It is,
of course, possible for a commodity that grades U.S. No. 1 at time of
shipment, and is shipped under normal transportation service and conditions,
to fail to make good delivery at destination due to age or other inherent

defects which were not present, or were not present in sufficient degree to be
cognizable by the federal inspector, at shipping point. Conversely, since the
inherently perishable nature of commodities subject to the Act dictates that

a commodity cannot remain forever in the same condition, the application of

8Bttd Antle v. J M. Fields, 38 Agric Dec, 844 (1979): Heggeblade-Map)_uleas- 7k'nneco v. Fisher
Foods, 33 Agric. Dec. 1443 (1974).

9Sunset Strawberry Growers v. Luna Co., Inc., 46 Agric. Dec. 1701 (1987).

1°7 C.F.R. § 46.43(0.

ll7 C.F.R. § 46.43(j).

12See Williston, Sales § 245 (rev. ed. 1948).
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the good delivery concept requires that we allow for a "normal" amount of
deterioration. This means that it is entirely possible for a commodity sold
f.o.b, under a U.S. grade description to fail, at destination, to meet the

published tolerances of that grade, and thus fail to grade at destination, and
nevertheless make good delivery. 13This is true because under the f.o.b, terms

the grade description applies only at shipping point, and the applicable
warranty is only that the commodity thus sold will reach contract destination
without abnormal deterioration, not that it will meet the grade description at
destination) 4 If the latter result is desired then the parties should effect a
delivered sale rather than an f.o.b, sale. For all commodities other than

lettuce (for which specific good delivery standards have been promulgated)
what is "normal" or abnormal deterioration is judicially determined) 5

The warranty of suitable shipping condition is made applicable only when
transportation services and conditions are normal. In this case complainant
has asserted that transportation temperatures were shown to be abnormal by
the arrival temperatures disclosed by the two federal inspections. However,
respondent submitted copies of temperature recorder tapes covering the load
which show temperatures throughout the transit period of 30 degrees. The
short period between arrival and inspection during which the truck reportedly
sat with the doors open would not, in our opinion, account for the excessive
decay found in the load. We find that complainant has not met its burden of
proving that transportation services or conditions were abnormal. In addition,

13See Pinnacle Produce, Ltd. v. Produce Products, lnc., 46 Agric. Dec. 1155 (1987); G & S

Produce v. Morris Produce, 31 Agric. Dec. 1167 (1972); Lake Fruit Co. v. Jackson, 18 Agric. Dec.

140 (1959); and Haines Assn. v. Robinson & Gentile, 10 Agric. Dec. 968 (1951).

14As an illustration, the United States Standards for Grades of Lettuce (7 C.F.R. § 51.2510

et seq.) allow lettuce to grade U.S. No. 1 with 1 percent decay at shipping point or 3 percent

decay at destination. The good delivery standards, however, allow an additional "2percent decay
• . . in excess of the destination tolerances provided . . . in the U.S. Standards for Grades of

Lettuce." Thus lettuce sold as U.S. No. 1, f.o.b., could have 4 percent decay at destination and

therefore fail to grade U.S. No. 1, but nevertheless make good delivery since the amount of

decay would not exceed the total of 5 percent allowed by the good delivery standards. Of
course, in the case of other commodities for which specific good delivery standards have not

been promulgated, the concept of good delivery allows a similar expansion of any destination
grade tolerances under the judicial determination of good delivery. See cases cited at note 12,

supra.

lSSee Hata'est b)'esh Produce Inc. v. Clark-Ehre Produce Co., 39 Agric. Dec. 703 (1980)•
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complainant has failed to prove by a preponderance of the evidence that the
rejection by respondent was in any way wrongful.

Respondent's Mikc Pierce claimed in a letter made a part of the
Department's report of investigation that during the time between the two
inspections:

With responsibility for the condition of the strawberries still in dispute
.... both parties agreed that the strawberries needed to be sold as
quickly as possible. It was decided to move them to Market Dist. in

Dallas, Texas on an open basis. The only concrete order was from
J.M. Wholesale Produce Dist. of Fort Worth who offered $4.00

delivered per fiat. I called Shamrock with this offer and clearly and
concisely explained that this offer was for $4.00 delivered, not $4.00
F.O.B. Shamrock agreed to this offer and the load was sold to J.M.
Wholesale per said agreement.

Complainant's version of these events is stated in the answering statement of
its salesman, Mike Crowley:

After additional phone calls transpired between myself and Mr.
Pierce, 1 finally acquiesced and agreed to settle the entire file on the
basis of $4.00 per carton FOB back to me ....

Apparently, now, Calflo is rencging on the agreement which they
entered into with me whereby settling this file based on $4.00 FOB or

$2.00 per carton adjustment. Now they are saying that the $4.00 per
carton also takes into consideration the freight charges ....

Thus, in these statements, and elsewhere in the record, complainant insists
that the $4.00 price was a delivered price, and respondent insists that it was

an f.o.b, price. The testimonial evidence is evenly divided on this point, and
we think the question is decided by a consideration of the status of the parties.

The Uniform Commercial Code, section 2---603, provides in relevant
part as follows:

(1) Subject to any security interest in the buyer (subsection (3) of
Section 2D711), when the seller has no agent or place of business at the
market of rejection a merchant buyer is under a duty after rejection of
goods in his possession or control to follow any reasonable instructions
received from the seller with respect to the goods and in the absence
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of such instructions to make reasonable efforts to sell them for the

seller's account if they are perishable or threaten to decline in value

speedily. Instructions are not reasonable if on demand indemnity for
expenses is not forthcoming.

(2) When the buyer sells goods under subsection (1), he is entitled
to reimbursement from the seller or out of the proceeds for reasonable

expenses of caring for and selling them, and if the expenses include no
selling commission then to such commission as is usual in the trade or
if there is none to a reasonable sum not exceeding ten per cent on the

gross proceeds.
(3) In complying with this section the buyer is held only to good

faith and good faith conduct hereunder is neither acceptance nor
conversion nor the basis of an action for damages.

According to the Official Comments:

The limitations on the buyer's duty to resell under section (1) of 2---603
are to be liberally construed. The buyer's duty to resell under this
section arises from commercial necessity and thus is present only when
the seller has "no agent or place of business at the market of
rejection", t6

The seller would thus normally have the burden of proving by a preponder-
ance of the evidence that it had no agent or place of business at the market

of rejection before the duty of resale would be placed upon the buyer.
However, here it is clear that respondent assumed this duty, and we will
therefore assume that complainant had no such agent or place of business in
the Dallas - Fort Worth area. As we stated earlier, following the effective

rejection complainant had title to the strawberries, and under section 2---603
respondent was acting as complainant's agent in their disposition. However,
the type of agency here enforced upon respondent is restricted. Respondent
is only required to act in good faith. Good faith in the case of a merchant
means honesty in fact and the observance of reasonable commercial standards
of fair dealing in the trade, t7 Respondent's sale of the berries appears to us

16Official Comment 2 to UC(" § 2-603.

L7LJC(_§ 2--103(0).
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to meet these requirements. Furthermore section 2---603 specifically provides
that a buyer in such position is entitled to all expenses. In this case the

receiver, Albertson's, paid the freight, and billed respondent for such freight,
which respondent paid. Complainant appears to view the negotiations that
took place after the rejection as though the strawberries belonged to
respondent, and as if complainant were negotiating a new price at which the
berries were to be sold to respondent. However, the berries belonged to
complainant, and respondent was not purchasing the berries but acting as
complainant's agent in effectuating their sale. It seems unlikely to us that
respondent would report to complainant that the resale of the strawberries

was for an f.o.b, price when this would result in respondent bearing the cost
of freight on goods that belonged to complainant. We conclude that

respondent reported to complainant that the berries were resold at a price of
$4.00, from which it was intended that freight and other expenses would be
deducted.

Respondent was entitled to a commission on the disposition of

complainant's goods. Respondent requests 15 percent of the gross sale price
of $10,752.00, or $1,612,80, which comports with the customary commission

in the trade, and which we will allow. In addition respondent incurred
inspection fees in the total amount of $134.00, and freight amounted to
$2,150.00. These amounts deducted from the $10,752.00 sale price leave a net
amount of $6,855.20. Since respondent actually paid complainant $7,596.00 it
is entitled to a credit of $740.80.

Respondent also asserts that it is entitled to damages. We concur.
Complainant and respondent were not negotiating a settlement between
themselves, because respondent did not have title to the goods. Where a

buyer rightfully rejects it may recover damages for non-delivery. _s The
Uniform Commercial Code, section 2--713, provides:

(1) Subject to the provisions of this Article with respect to proof of
market price (Section 2--723), the measure of damages for non-delivery
or repudiation by the seller is the difference between the market price
at the time when the buyer learned of the breach and the contract price
together with any incidental and consequential damages provided in this
Article (Section 2--715), but less expenses saved in consequence of the
seller's breach.

_SUCC § 2--711(1)(b).
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(2) Market price is to be determined as of the place for tender or,
in cases of rejection after arrival or revocation of acceptance, as of the
place of arrival.

Respondent did not submit any evidence as to market prices. However,
respondent did submit a copy of its invoice on the subject berries covering its
original resale to Albertson's. This invoice shows that respondent had the
berries resold at $6.40 f.o.b. We will use this figure as the market price of the

berries if they had been as warranted. The original contract price, including
Tectrol and temperature reorder, was $6.25, or $16,795.50 for the load. This
amount deducted from the $17,203.20 that we have determined to have been
the market value of the load if it had been as warranted results in damages
in the amount of $407.70. The total which we have found due from

complainant to respondent on respondent's counterclaim is $1,148.50.
Complainant's failure to pay respondent this amount is a violation of section
2 of the Act. The complaint should be dismissed.

Section 5(a) of the Act requires that we award to the person or persons
injured by a violation of section 2 of the Act "the full amount of damages
sustained in consequence of such violations." Such damages include
interestJ 9 Since the Secretary is charged with the duty of awarding damages,
he also has the duty, where appropriate, to award interest at a reasonable rate

as a part of each reparation award. 2° We have determined that a reasonable
rate is 10 percent per annum.

Order

The complaint is dismissed.
Within 30 days from the date of this order complainant shall pay to

respondent, as reparation, $l,148.50, with interest thereon at the rate of 10%

per annum from June l, 1993, until paid.
Copies of this order shall be served upon the parties.

tgL & N Raih'oad Co. v. Sloss ShefJield Steel &lron Co., 269 U.S. 217 (199_.5);L & N Railroad

Co. v. Ohio Valley Tie Co.. 242 U.S. 288 (1916).

2°See Pearl Grange Fruit Exchange, Inc. v. Mark Bernstein Company, Inc., 29 Agric. Dec. 978

(1970); John W. Scherer v. Manhattan Pickle Co., 29 Agric. Dec. 335 (1970); and W. D. Crockett
v. Producers Marketing Association, Inc., 22 Agric. Dec. 66 (1963).
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PEE DEE PRODUCE CO-OP v. SUN VALLEY of the CAROLINAS, INC.
PACA DOCKET NO. R-94-292.

Decision and Order filed June 3, 1996.

Prerequisites establishing a produce cooperative's standing to initiate a reparation complaint
on behalf of individual farmers against a respondent who acts as a growers' agent.

Complainant, a produce cooperative, filed a reparation case on behalf of its farmer members and
some non-member farmers whose produce was sold by respondent, a growers' agent.
Complainant failed to prove that the individual farmers effectively assigned their rights

authorizing complainant to initiate a reparation complaint on their behalf. Complainant was only

able to prove that an effective assignment took place in reference to one non-member farmer

and three farmer members who represented complainant at the oral hearing. As to the

remaining individual farmers who did not effectively assign their rights to complainant,

complainant has the burden of proving that it possesses the requisite standing to file a reparation
action on behalf of those individual farmers.

The prerequisites, set forth by the United States Supreme Court in l,Varth v. Seldin, 422 U.S. 490

(1975) and later in Hlolt v. Washington Apple Advertising Conml'n, 432 U.S. 333 (1977), require

that an association has standing to bring suit on behalf of its members when: (a) its members

would otherwise have standing to sue in their own right: (b) the interests it seeks to protect are
germane to the organization's purpose: and (c) neither the claim asserted nor the relief

requested requires the participation of individual members in the lawsuit. Complainant failed
to prove that it satisfied all of the requirements as to the individual farmers (members and non-

members) necessary to establish its associational standing to initiate a reparation complaint on
behalf of those who had not effectively assigned their rights to complainant.

Kimberly D. Hart, Presiding Officer.

Eugene P. Warr, Jr., Darlington, SC, for Complainant.
John Chandler, Fort Pierce, FL, for Respondent.

Decision and Order issued by William G. Jenson, Judicial Officer.

Preliminary Statement

This is a reparation proceeding under the Perishable Agricultural
Commodities Act, 1930, as amended (7 U.S.C. § 499a et seq.), hereinafter
referred to as the Act. A timely informal complaint was filed in which
complainant seeks a reparation award against respondent in the amount of
$35,079.19 in connection with sales proceeds earned from the sale of various
produce, all being perishable agricultural commodities, in interstate

commerce. A PACA audit was performed at the request of complainant at
the business establishments of respondent and respondent's broker, American

Growers in 1994. A copy of the report of investigation prepared by the
Department was served upon each of the parties. A copy of the formal
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complaint was served upon respondent, which filed an answer thereto, denying
the allegations of the complaint and asserting a counterclaim. The
counterclaim was served on complainant. Complainant filed a response to the
counterclaim which was served upon respondent.

Since the amount claimed as damages exceeds $15,000.00 and the
respondent requested an oral hearing, an oral hearing was held in accordance
with section 47.15 of the Rules of Practice (7 C.F.R. § 47.15). _ The hearing

was held on April 13, 1995, in Palm Beach, Florida before Kimberly D. Hart,
Presiding Officer. The complainant was pro se and the respondent was
represented by John Chandler, Esq. located in Fort Pierce, Florida.

Complainant introduced eight exhibits into evidence and respondent
introduced three exhibits into evidence. All documents contained in the

report of investigation including the audit results are automatically considered
as being in evidence. After the hearing, the parties were afforded the
opportunity to file proposed findings of fact and conclusions of law as well as
briefs in support thereof and claims for fees and expenses. The Department
received proposed findings of fact and conclusions of law accompanied by
briefs in support thereof from both parties by the agreed upon deadline date.
Only complainant filed a timely claim for fees and expenses. Copies of all
pertinent documents were served upon each party in accordance with the
Rules of Practice.

Findings of Fact

1. Complainant, Pee Dee Produce Co-op, is a corporation whose mailing
address is 2513 Lucas Street, Florence, South Carolina 29501.

2. Respondent, Sun Valley of Carolina's, Inc., is a corporation whose
mailing address is P.O. Box 2291, Fort Pierce, Florida 34947. At the time of
transactions alleged herein, respondent was licensed under the Act.

3. Complainant, on or about April 20, 1992, entered into a contract with

respondent to lease its packing house facility to respondent in exchange for
rent to be paid to complainant for said lease. The contract set forth all of the

particulars of the monies to be paid by respondent including the following
language:

tThe statutory threshold amount for an oral hearingwas raisedfrom $15,000to $30,000
effectiveNovember15.1995by PublicLaw 104-48.
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• . . Sun Valley further agrees to collect five percent (5%) from sales
from members and ten percent (10%) from non-members as a co-op
processing fee which is packed in house or field packed and pay this to
Pee Dee Co-op for Pee Dee Co-op to pay its debts and to use for
programs of the co-op.

•.. Sun Valley represents to Pee Dee Co-op that packing charges for
"in house" packing in the 1992 season shall be $2.75 for all 11/9 cartons

plus processing fee of five percent sales (5%) sales for co-op members.
A charge of $2.25 for smaller cartons. For non-members of the co-op
the charge will be $2.75 plus processing fee of ten percent (10%) of
sales• On cartons or boxes which are field packed, a handling charge
of fifty cents ($.50) shall be made on 11/9 cartons and thirty cents ($.30)
on smaller cartons.

A brokerage charge of 9.5% shall be made on all sales whether "in

house" or field packed. Sun Valley will provide harvest money to each
member weekly based on pack out. The brokerage fee of 9.5% for the
1992 season will include a field man, USDA Government Inspector, a
line grader and broker. The brokerage fee will be negotiated annually.
After 45 days of operation Sun Valley plans to run a cost analysis of
packing costs and may adjust charges, not to exceed thirty-five cents
($•35) per carton if this is necessary to operate profitably. Any
adjustment will be done with full notice to Pee Dee Co-op and its
members with documentation and the adjusted price must be within
industry averages.

4. Complainant negotiated with respondent on behalf of area growers,
some who were members of the cooperative and some non-members, to reach

an agreement by which the respondent would act as sales agent to assist in
selling the growers' produce for the 1992 crop season• Respondent thereafter

employed the services of American Growers to act as its broker in marketing
and selling the growers' produce• Complainant (cooperative) and the growers
who sold produce through respondent during the 1992 crop season were

dissatisfied with the co-op fees and sales returns remitted by respondent•
Complainant alleges that respondent had failed to accurately and truly account
to the growers for the disposition of the produce which affected the total sales
returns and the co-op fees. The cooperative association is seeking to recover
the co-op fees due to it by respondent and the sales returns still owed to the
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growers by respondent.

5. Respondent has failed to pay complainant or the growers the sums of
money alleged to be due and owing.

6. An informal _zomplaint was filed on October 26, 1992 which is within
nine months from when the cause of action accrued.

Conclusions

Complainant states that it is a cooperative formed primarily to organize
growers in the South Carolina area and encourage them to diversify crop
production so as not to rely on tobacco as their sole crop. Complainant states
that it is incorporated in the state of South Carolina and as such is run on a
day to day basis by a board of directors who are members themselves. It
appears from the overall testimony provided that the cooperative encountered
financial difficulties and decided to solicit produce operations to lease its
packing facility to pay off debts of the cooperative. At the same time,
complainant proposed to solicit area growers, some who were members of the
cooperative and some who were non-members, to produce certain quantities
of crops that would be handled through the packing facility by respondent.

The cooperative had a two-fold objective in soliciting the area farmers.
One goal was to create business for the packing facility by encouraging crop
production that would be handled by respondent through the packing facility.
This would create more incentive for respondent to operate the facility and
the cooperative would generate money from the rent payments to pay its
debts. The second objective was to encourage the farmers to diversify their
crop production in order to get the greatest returns for their farming efforts
with respondent's assistance. The testimony indicates that there were several

initial meetings between complainant, respondent and the growers to
familiarize the growers with respondent's operation. Sometime thereafter,
complainant and respondent contracted for the lease of the packing house
facility. Apparently, the complainant and respondent were also in the process
of negotiating with the growers who had agreed to grow certain crops to be
packed at complainant's facility and sold by respondent. It was complainant
who verbally negotiated with respondent on behalf of the growers regarding
the specific details. There was no written agreement between the growers and
respondent regarding the contractual obligations and duties of the parties for
the 1992 season.

The only written evidence submitted that deals with these issues is a

statement of company policy issued by respondent to the cooperative and
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growers. This statement does not constitute a contract. In addition, the only
mention in the "lease agreement" entered into between complainant and
respondent regarding the sale of produce is in relation to the packing charges,
field charges and brokerage fees to be charged by respondent in operating the
packing house facility and the co-op fees to be paid to the cooperative.

Neither complainant nor respondent have submitted a complete listing of
the growers who initially agreed to participate in the venture. The testimony
provided at the hearing indicates that there were some growers who initially
agreed to participate but who failed to produce the type and quantity of
produce that they committed to providing to respondent. Respondent has
provided a list of the growers for whom it has a record of selling produce.
Mr. Chaplin, one of complainant's representatives who appeared at the
hearing, testified that there were twenty-nine (29) members of the cooperative
but only sixteen (16) who participated in the venture with respondent. There
was no number given by complainant as to the total number of non-members
who participated. Respondent's accounting shows twenty-one (21) growers
participating in the venture. We cannot say with any certainty that all the
participants have been accounted for in respondent's records.

The overall testimony persuades us that the cooperative was not involved
with the marketing or sale of the growers' produce except to the extent that
some of the officers of the corporation were also selling their own produce
through respondent. The cooperative did not take title to any of the produce
on behalf of the growers nor was it responsible for accounting to the growers
for anything related to the sales. The testimony also persuades us that the
growers dealt solely with the respondent regarding their individual produce.
Ms. Calandro testified that respondent issued checks for the harvest advances
and sale returns directly to the individual growers (Tr. at 145, 166, 179, 197,
201). The only money that was to be paid directly to the cooperative were the
leasing fees and co-op fees that were computed as a percentage of the
growers' sales returns.

In October 1992, complainant filed an informal complaint against
respondent alleging that respondent failed to truly and accurately account to
the growers for their produce and failed to accurately remit net proceeds in
conjunction with those sales. As a result of this informal complaint, an audit
was performed at the businesses of respondent, Sun Valley, and respondent's
broker, American Growers, who actually sold the growers' produce. The audit
results found that an adjusted amount of $35,079.19 was due to the growers
and of that amount, $3,646.56 was due to the complainant for co-op fees. In
addition, the audit found that American Growers underpaid respondent by
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$1,408.69 that would also be due to the growers. Of that $1,408.69, $84.87

would be due to the co-op as co-op fees.
The audit revealed that respondent's recordkeeping was in violation of the

Act and regulations. For example, the auditor noted that there were major
discrepancies between the amount of produce received versus the amount of
produce sold as well as in the manner in which respondent accounted for the
sales proceeds. Based on the audit results, complainant filed a formal
complaint in April 1994, seeking to recover the $35,079.19 from respondent
on behalf of the growers and the cooperative.

Respondent filed an answer to the formal complaint on June 10, 1994, in
which it raised an affirmative defense that the contract between complainant

and respondent only provided for payments to the cooperative based upon five
(5%) percent of sales collected from members and ten (10%) percent of sales
collected from non-members and that complainant seeks to recover amounts
due to the growers (members and non-members). Respondent alleges that
neither the members nor the non-members have been made parties to the

complaint nor has the cooperative been empowered by the contract to recover
those funds alleged to be due to the growers. Therefore, it is respondent's
contention that complainant does not possess the requisite standing to file a
reparation complaint to recover monies due to individual growers whether
members or non-members of the cooperative.

The complainant filed an answer to the counterclaim but did not address
the lack of standing allegation asserted as an affirmative defense. The hearing
took place on April 13, 1995, in Palm Beach, Florida. While respondent has
raised the issue of standing in its affirmative defense, it is complainant who
bears the burden of proving that it possesses the requisite standing to bring
the reparation complaint. Standing is a fundamental requirement and must
be established at the outset where contested in order for complainant to
continue with the action.

Respondent asserts that the cooperative can only recover monies which
may be due to them in the form of co-op fees. Respondent contends that it
dealt with the members and non-members separate and apart from its
dealings with the cooperative. Respondent also alleges that the individual
growers are not parties to the contract and therefore complainant does not
have standing to sue on behalf of those growers unless it has obtained some
assignment of rights from the growers vesting complainant with the authority
to act on their behalf or names them as parties to the complaint.

Respondent stated its concern that should reparation be awarded to
complainant on behalf of the growers without the requisite proof of standing
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or assignment of rights, it has no guarantee that the money would be paid to
the growers by the cooperative. Respondent does not want to subject itself

to duplicative litigation by the growers if for some reason the cooperative does
not pay the growers the portion of the award to which they are entitled.
Respondent states that only a portion of the growers are entitled to additional

money from respondent and in fact some growers owe respondent money
because of harvest advances. Respondent contends that complainant could
have dealt with the standing problem quite simply by obtaining written
assignments and/or joining the individual growers as parties to the complaint.

Complainant's representatives also provided testimony on the standing
issue. The crux of the witnesses' testimony is that a meeting was held with the
members of the cooperative who had disagreed with the sales proceeds
returned by respondent for their particular produce and that all members

verbally agreed at that time to allow the coopcrative to represent their
interests rather than filing individual claims with PACA (Tr. at 15-17).
However, the testimony was conflicting as to which members were present at
the meeting, whether the non-members were included in this meeting, which
members and non-members present at the meeting actually voiced
dissatisfaction with their sales proceeds and wished to pursue a reparation
complaint (Tr. at 15-17). It is complainant's contention that the verbal vote
taken at this meeting constitutes sufficient evidence that an effective
assignment of rights took place.

Complainant has provided no written evidence showing which growers
were to be represented by the cooperative or that the verbal assignment of
rights took place. Complainant's testimony alone without any documentation
to support it is insufficient to persuade us that any assignment of rights took

place. The only grower who provided a written assignment of his rights was
Garner Rabon. It appears that Mr. Rabon had previously filed a complaint
with PACA in his individual capacity to recover monies alleged to be due him.

On December 18, 1992, the Department sent a letter to Mr. Rabon informing
him that a letter had been received by Mr. Phillip Bryd on behalf of

complainant stating that Mr. Rabon desired to drop his individual complaint
and join the complaint filed by the complainant. The letter instructed Mr.
Rabon that it was necessary to confirm that Mr. Byrd's letter was in
accordance with Mr. Rabon's intent before closing the file. Mr. Rabon was
told to submit a statement by January 1993 requesting that his file be closed
if that was his intent. (Cx-l). Mr. Rabon submitted a statement to the

Department requesting that his file be closed and assigning his rights to the
cooperative. In addition, the representatives of the cooperative, Mr. Byrd, Mr.
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Chaplin and Mr. Gaskins, are on the board of directors of the cooperative and
members who sold produce through respondent except Mr. Gaskins who says
that he was not a member of the cooperative (Tr. at 205). All three persons

indicated that they also wanted to assign their individual claims to the
cooperative for recovery of damages on their behalf.

Article III of the Constitution of the United States sets forth requirements

for determining if a party possesses the requisite standing to initiate a suit
against a party in federal court. If complainant cannot establish standing in
this case, it cannot proceed in this reparation case on behalf of the growers
except for Garner Rabon. There is no doubt that the cooperative has
standing to initiate a reparation complaint against respondent to recover
money alleged to be due to the cooperative pursuant to the parties' contract.

The Perishable Agricultural Commodities Act (PACA) was enacted by
Congress in 1932 thereby making it a federal statute enforced by the Secretary
of the U.S. Department of Agriculture. Pursuant to that statute, complainant
filed a formal complaint seeking reparation from respondent based on an

alleged violation of section 2(4) of the Act on respondent's part. Section 2(4)
of the Act states in pertinent part:

It shall be unlawful in or in connection with any transaction in

interstate or foreign commerce -

(4) For any commission merchant, dealer or broker to . . . fail or refuse
to truly and correctly to account and make full payment promptly in any
respect of any transaction in any such commodity to the person with whom
such transaction is had ....

Section 5(a) of the Act provides that:

(a) If any commission merchant, dealer, or broker violates any
provision of section 2 of this act he shall be liable to the person or
persons injured thereby for full amount of damages sustained in
consequence of such violation.

Section 5(a) of the Act authorizes the Secretary to award reparation to an
injured party for a violation of the Act by a commission merchant, dealer or
broker. Since the alleged violation is federal in nature, we must look to
federal law to determine if standing exists for the cooperative (complainant)
to assert an action on behalf of the individual growers (members and non-
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members).

"Article III of the Constitution states that judicial power exists only to
redress or otherwise to protect against injury to the complaining party, even
though the court's judgment may benefit others collaterally. A federal court's

jurisdiction therefore can be invoked only when the plaintiff himself has
suffered "some threatened or actual injury resulting from the putatively illegal
action..." Warth v. Seldin, 422 U.S. 490 (1975), citing Linda R. D. v. Richard

D., 410 U.S. 617 (1973). It is clear from Article III that standing implies
justiciability that is defined as "a matter appropriate for court review," or that
there is some case or controversy.

Therefore, the threshold standing question in regard to justiciability is
"whether the plaintiff has 'alleged such a personal stake in the outcome of the
controversy' as to warrant his invocation of federal-court jurisdiction and to
justify exercise of the court's remedial powers on his behalf." Warth, 422 U.S.
at 499 citing Baker v. Carr, 369 U.S. 186 (1962). Apart from the minimum
constitutional mandate, the Supreme Court has recognized other limits on the

class of persons who may invoke the courts' decisional and remedial powers.
"First, the Court has held that when the asserted harm is a 'generalized

grievance' shared in substantially equal measure by all or a large class of
citizens, that harm alone does not warrant exercise of jurisdiction." Warth, 422
U.S. at 499. 2 "Second, even when the plaintiff has alleged injury sufficient to
meet the 'case or controversy' requirement, this Court has held that the

plaintiff generally must assert his own legal rights and interests, and cannot
rest his claim to relief on the legal rights or interests of third parties." Id. at
499. 3

The Supreme Court also acknowledges that "Congress may create statutes,
the invasion of which creates standing." "In those cases, the standing question
is still whether the constitutional or statutory provision on which the claim
rests properly can be understood as granting persons in the plaintiff's position

a right to judicial relief." Id. at 500. The Court acknowledges that "some
circumstances will present countervailing considerations that may outweigh the
reluctance to exercise judicial power when the plaintiff's claim to relief rests
on the legal rights of third parties." See, e.g., United States v. Raines, 362 U.S.

_See,e.g., Schlesingerv. Reserviststo Stop the War, 418 U.S.208 (1974); UnitedStates v.
Richardson,418U.S. 166(1974).

3See,e.g.,Tilestonv. Ullman, 318U.S.44(1943);UnitedStatesv.Raines, 362U.S.17(1960).
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17 (1960). Even when there are countervailing concerns, Article III's
requirement of case or controversy is still applicable.

The Supreme Court has also determined that an association may have

standing solely as the representative of its members whether or not it alleges
injury to itself. See, e.g., National Motor Freight Ass'n v. United States, 372
U.S. 246 (1963). "The possibility of such representational standing, however,
does not eliminate or attenuate the constitutional requirement of a case or

controversy." Warth, 422 U.S. at 511; See also Sierra Chtb v. Morton, 405 U.S.
727 (1972). The association must allege that its members, or any one of them,
are suffering immediate or threatened injury as a result of the challenged
action of the sort that would make out a justiciable case had the members

themselves brought suit. Sierra Chtb, 405 U.S. at 734-741.
"So long as this can be established, and so long as the nature of the claim

and of the relief sought does not make the individual participation of each

injured party indispensable to proper resolution of the cause, the association
may be an appropriate representative of its members, entitled to invoke the
court's jurisdiction. Warth, 422 U.S. at 511. The prerequisites of associational
standing were later affirmed by the Supreme Court in Hunt v. Washh_gton
Apple Advertising Comm'n, 432 U.S. 333 (1977). In Hunt, the Supreme Court
stated that an association has standing to bring suit on behalf of its members

when: (a) its members would otherwise have standing to sue in their own
right; (b) the interests it seeks to protect are germane to the organization's
purpose; and (c) neither the claim asserted nor the relief requested requires
the participation of individual members in the lawsuit.

The Supreme Court in Warth also established that the question of whether
an association has standing to sue on behalf of its members must be

dependent in substantial measure on the nature of the relief sought. Id. at
515. In addressing the subject, the Supreme Court stated:

If in a proper case the association seeks a declaration, injunction, or
some other form of prospective relief, it can reasonably be supposed
that the remedy, if granted,will inure to the benefit of those members
of the association actually injured. Indeed, in all cases in which we

have expressly recognized standing in associations to represent their
members, the relief sought has been of this kind.

In the process of holding that the plaintiff association in Warth lacked
standing, the Supreme Court reasoned:



694 PERISHABLE AGRICUUI'URAL COMMODITIES ACI"

The present case, however, differs significantly as here an association
seeks relief in damages for alleged injuries to its members. Home

Builders alleges no monetary injury to itself, nor any assignment of the
damages claims of its members. No award therefore can be made to

the association as such. Moreover, in the circumstances of this case, the
damages claims are not common to the entire membership, nor shared
by all in equal degree. To the contrary, whatever injury may have been
suffered is peculiar to the individual member concerned, and both the
fact and extent of injury would require individualized proof. Thus to
obtain relief in damages, each member of Home Builders who claims

injury as a result of respondents' practices must be a party to the suit
and Home Builders has no standing to claim damages on his behalf.

There have been other federal cases in which associations have alleged
standing to sue on behalf of its members for damages. The rulings in those
cases have been consistent with principle set forth in the Warth case that relief
for damages to members injured to different degrees requires individualized
participation from the individual members in order to determine the nature

and extent of the injury. See, e.g., Hunt, supra; Dalworth Oil Co., Inc. v. Fina
Oil & Chetnical Co., 758 F. Supp. 410 (1991).

We now turn to the present case to determine if the complainant has
standing to bring a suit on behalf of the growers who sold through respondent
by employing the prerequisites set forth by the Supreme Court. In this
instance, we have a federal statute enacted by Congress enabling persons to
initiate a reparation action against a commission merchant, broker or dealer

alleging a violation of section 2 of the Act thereby warranting reparation for
its damages suffered as a consequence of that violation. The PACA does not

require that the complainant (plaintiff) be licensed under the Act or subject
to license under the Act in order to file a reparation complaint as long as the
respondent (defendant) is a licensee or operating subject to the Act during the
relevant time period.

In accordance with the Sierra Club decision, the cooperative must allege
that its members or any one of them, are suffering immediate or threatened
injury as a result of the challenged action of the sort that would make out a

justiciable case had the members themselves brought the suit. In the present
case, the cooperative is alleging that some of its members and non-members

are suffering from immediate monetary injury due to the fact that respondent
has not properly accounted to them for their produce or properly remitted the
proceeds from the sale of their produce in violation of section 2 of the Act.
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The cooperative is also alleging that it is suffering immediate moneta
injury as a consequence of respondent's failure to account and remit properly
to the members and non-members which has resulted in it receiving less co-op

proceeds than it was entitled to receive under the parties' contract. We find
that the members as well as the non-members would be entitled to initiate

separate reparation actions against respondent to recover monies allegedly
owed to them by respondent resulting from the sale of their produce providing
that they meet the statutory time period for filing such actions. We find that
the cooperative satisfies the first prerequisite for standing as it applies to both
members and non-members.

We now look to the second prerequisite which is whether the interests that

the cooperative seeks to protect are germane to the organization's purpose.
Even though we concede that the cooperative's initiating suit on behalf of its
members seeks to protect interests germane to the cooperative's purpose, we
cannot concede that the cooperative's initiating a suit on behalf of non-
members seeks to protect interests germane to the cooperative's purpose.
There is a distinct difference between a cooperative bringing suit on behalf of
its members and a cooperative bringing suit on behalf of non-members. A

cooperative is generally formed for the benefit of its members and governed
by those who are members of the cooperative. Those persons who choose to
participate in a cooperative acquire an economic stake in the cooperative by
virtue of their financial contributions to the cooperative which consequently

gives them a vote as to the manner in which the cooperative is operated.
Therefore, the cooperative has an important task of promoting the best
interests of its membership group which would be in keeping with the

organization's purpose. The cooperative has shown a direct link between itself
and its members.

However, the same is not true for non-members who have no economic
stake or voting power within the cooperative. The only connection these non-
members have to the cooperative is that they were solicited by the cooperative
to grow and harvest produce to be handled by the packing facility and sold by
respondent on their behalf. The evidence shows that all of the growers,
members and non-members alike, dealt solely with respondent in the packing,

marketing and sale of their produce. The growers (members and non-
members) were given harvest advances and paid sales proceeds by respondent
with no money passing through the cooperative.

The cooperative never took title to any of the produce nor did it
participate in the sale of the produce on behalf of any of the growers. The
only money received by the cooperative from respondent was co-op fees that
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integrally involved with the growers or respondent in the marketing and sales
operations and as such maintained no records in regard to the manner in
which the produce was packed, marketed or sold by respondent. The link
between the cooperative and non-members is tenuous at best.

We, therefore, cannot conclude that the non-members' interests sought to
be protected by the cooperative are germane to the organization's purpose.
The cooperative's principal purpose is to promote the best interests of its
membership base which does not include non-members.

The third prerequisite which complainant must satisfy to establish
associational standing is a showing that the individual participation of the
injured parties is not required to fully adjudicate the matter when taking into
consideration the claim and the relief requested. In consideration of the
nature of the claim and relief requested, we find that the individual
participation of all of the injured parties, members and non-members alike,
is required to fully adjudicate the matter.

After review of the relevant documentation in evidence, we are persuaded
that the damages alleged to have been suffered by the individual growers are
not common to the entire membership nor shared by all of the members in
equal degree. We cannot even compare the non-members to the entire

membership group since to do so would be comparing "apples to oranges"per
se. As to the members, the damages alleged to have been suffered are not

common to the entire membership nor shared by all of the members in equal
degree. Complainant itself does not allege that all of the members of the

cooperative suffered injury 6r that the members who have suffered injury have
done so in equal degree. In fact, the evidence shows that only certain growers
may be entitled to damages based on respondent's violations and those

damages may differ according the quantity and quality of the produce involved
with each members.

This is not a case where the parties are requesting injunctive or declaratory
action but instead arc seeking to recover monetary damages. Fair
adjudication of this matter requires individualized proof from each grower,
member and non-member, as to the nature and extent of its monetary
damages. It is complainant's burden to prove its allegations and resulting
damages by a preponderance of the evidence. Complainant has not submitted
sufficient documentation from either the members or the'non-members to

present such individualized proof of damages. We have reviewed the evidence
submitted by both parties at the hearing and find that we are unable to
determine the extent of damages incurred by the affected growers due to the
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inconsistencies contained in the documents.

Complainant has submitted very little evidence to prove its allegations and
instead relies heavily on the PACA audit as a basis for its proof of damages.

Complainant's evidence was not presented in any orderly or coherent fashion
at the hearing. We find respondent's evidence to be unreliable since we are
aware that respondent maintained its records in such a manner that it is
unable to fully account for all of the growers' produce much less the sales
proceeds.

In addition, there are several problems with the PACA audit results that

prevent us from adopting the results as indicative of the damages incurred by
the growers. The PACA auditor revealed severe discrepancies in respondent's
records and the records of its broker, American Grower, in terms of the

amount of produce received by respondent and the amount of produce
recorded as being sold.

Basically, respondent received more produce from the growers than it
recorded as being sold. Respondent has no reasonable explanation for this

discrepancy and has expressed no sense of responsibility to account to the
growers for the "lost" produce. Respondent seeks to place the blame for this
lack of accurate accounting solely with American Growers (Tr. at 213-260).

However, respondent, not American Growers, is answerable to its principals,
the growers.

Ms. Calandro, president of respondent, testified that it was the growers
who actually hired American Growers to sell the produce and as such they
should have been in contact with American Growers to obtain information as

to their produce (Tr. at 218). However, the evidence established that it was
respondent that hired American Growers and in doing so has responsibility
for actions taken by American Growers with respect to the growers' produce.

Respondent attempts to abdicate its responsibilities to these growers. The
PACA audit also revealed that respondent granted authority to American
Growers which had not been granted to it by complainant. Again, respondent

alleges that since American Growers failed to accurately account to it, it was
relieved of any obligation to account to the growers. Ms. Calandro testified
that she felt that the growers took the risk that their produce may be disposed

of improperly without the requisite accounting (Tr. at 213-260).
We will not allow respondent to abdicate its responsibilities to the growers

by attempting to place those responsibilities with American Growers. It is not
the grower who takes the risk that the broker will act irresponsibly in selling
its produce but the sales agent who ultimately must account to the grower.
The respondent bears the consequences of its agent's failure to act responsibly
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as well as its own failure to adhere to the regulations and Act in its capacity
as a sales agent. After review of the evidence, we conclude that respondent
violated section 2(4) of the Act by failing to truly and correctly account to the
growers for the disposition of their produce and failing to pay promptly the
proceeds due to those growers. In addition, respondent has violated several
provisions of the regulations as set forth below.

Section 46.32(b) of the Regulations (7 C.F.R. _46.32(b)) states in pertinent
part:

A growers' agent whose operations include such services as the lanting,
harvesting, grading, packing, furnishing of containers or other supplies,
storing, selling or distributing produce for or on behalf of growers shall
prepare and maintain complete records on all transactions in sufficient

detail as to be readily understood and audited. Agents must be in a
position to render to the growers accurate and detailed accountings
covering all aspects of their handling of the produce. Agents shall
maintain a record of all produce received in the form of a book

(preferably a bound book) with numbered pages or comparable
business record, showing for each lot, the date received, quantity, the
kind of produce and the name and address of the grower. A lot
number or other positive means of identification shall be assigned to
each lot in order to segregate the various lots of produce received from
different growers for similar produce being handled at the same time.

Each lot shall be so identified and segregated throughout all operations
conducted by the agent, including the sale or other disposition of the

produce .... The agent shall prepare and maintain full and complete
records on all details of such distribution to provide supporting
evidence for the accounting.

The audit results were that respondent failed to maintain complete records
that accounted for the ultimate disposition of the produce. Respondent did
not maintain a complete record of all produce received by the growers as
prescribed by the regulations. In addition, respondent failed to assign lot
numbers to all of the produce received by the growers as a means for
identifying and segregating the produce.

These deficiencies are made obvious by the fact that the auditor was

unable to trace all of the growers' produce received by respondent after a
review of respondent's records and American Grower's records. The

responsibilities and obligations remain with the agent throughout the course
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of the grower/agent relationship. Section 46.30 of the regulations (7 C.F.R.
§ 46.30) states that an agent only has that authority that has been granted to
it by the growers. In the present case, the PACA audit found that respondent
granted authority to the broker, American Grower which had not been
granted to it by the growers. For example, respondent granted American
Growers the authority to dump produce without sufficient justification and

grant unilateral adjustments/credits to customers. Respondent exceeded the
bounds of its authority as a sales agent. Section 46.23 of the regulations (7
C.F.R. § 46.23) states that there is reasonable cause for destroying produce
that has been found to have no commercial value but when produce is being
handled for or on behalf of another person, the agent is responsible for

obtaining the necessary proof that the produce has no commercial value when
more than five percent of a shipment is being dumped or destroyed. The
PACA audit found that American Growers dumped or destroyed produce

without obtaining the necessary documentation to justify the dumping in
violation of this provision. Respondent must bear the consequences of
American Grower's actions since the regulations squarely place the

responsibility with the agent for ensuring that actions taken are in accord with
the requirements of the Act.

The PACA audit discovered that respondent was not granted the authority
to allow American Growers to dump produce without supplying

documentation to justify those actions. Even if American Growers took
actions that were against the instructions of respondent, respondent is still

ultimately responsible for accounting to the growers for their produce.
American Growers was acting on behalf of respondent but had no contractual

obligation to the growers. The audit also found that respondent had
recordkeeping discrepancies that were in violation of section 46.14 of the
regulations (7 C.F.R. § 46.14).

We have independently reviewed the findings of the PACA audit with

regard to the violations committed by respondent, taking into account the
testimony provided by the parties at the hearing. It is our finding that the
PACA audit results with respect to the manner in which respondent handled

the growers produce are accurate and are adopted as finding for purposes of
concluding that respondent did in fact violate section 2(4) of the Act and
several provisions of the regulations as set forth above.

Although we feel that respondent violated the Act and regulations with
respect to its handling of the growers' produce, there remains an obstacle that
prevents us utilizing the results of the PACA audit to determine the extent of
damages suffered by the individual growers as a result of those violations.
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The PACA auditor was unable to determine the amounts due to each

individual grower since American Growers did not segregate the produce by
grower and its records were not maintained by individual grower.
Respondent's records do not clear up the discrepancies since we find those
records to be inaccurate and unreliable for reasons stated above.

We have made several attempts to independently determine damages for
the individual growers and find it to be impossible to reconcile American
Growers' records with complainant and respondent's records. Even if it were

possible to reconcile the evidence coherently, we cannot ignore that any
determination would be speculation due to the fact that we have no way of
determining the amount of produce that was actually received by respondent
from the growers. None of the evidence submitted by the parties adequately
addresses this problem.

Under these circumstances, the individual grower is the best party to
present this type of evidence as to its own produce. It is the individual grower
who is in the best position to present the most accurate evidencc as to the

amount of produce entrusted to respondent, the sales proceeds returned, the
applicable deductions taken for handling, freight, and box charges, the harvest
advances given by respondent as well as the amounts alleged to be unpaid and
owing by respondent. Complainant has not shown that it can overcome these
obstacles in order to adequately represent the growers', members' and non-
members' claims.

Based on the foregoing, we conclude that the complainant has not satisfied
the third prerequisite for establishing associational standing for the members

or the non-members. The third prerequisite is that the complainant must
show that the individual participation of the injured parties is not required to
fully adjudicate the matter when taking into consideration the claim and the
relief requested. We find that complainant has not satisfied all of the

prerequisites for establishing associational standing thereby entitling it to
pursue a reparation complaint on behalf of members and non-members who

sold through produce through respondent. Therefore, complainant cannot be
allowed to pursue the members' or the non-members' claims in this reparation
case.

We must now address the issue of Garner Rabon, a non-member, who
assigned his interests in writing so that the cooperative could pursue its
interests in this reparation case. While we have previously concluded that the
cooperative does not have associational standing to pursue the interests of the
non-members, Mr. Rabon is in a unique position because there is proof that
he did assign his interest to the cooperative. Mr. Rabon had previously filed
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a reparation complaint against respondent but later withdrew that complaint.
As to Mr. Rabon, the cooperative can pursue his interests in this case but

still carries the burden of proving a violation of the Act by respondent and

resulting damages to Mr. Rabon as a result of the violation. We have
reviewed the evidence submitted and encounter the same problems as with the

other growers. First, the PACA audit does not provide sufficient guidance
because there is no way to segregate Mr. Rabon's produce and sale proceeds.

Complainant has not supplied us with any other evidence by which to
determine the amount of produce supplied by Mr. Rabon, or the amount of

produce sold by American Growers. We do have records from respondent
regarding its accountings that present problems in terms of accuracy.
Complainant has not set forth any indication of the extent to which it feels
Mr. Rabon has been injured.

We have checked the Department's records to ascertain if it is still in

possession of the documents filed by Mr. Rabon. We have discovered that the
documentation was forwarded to the Federal Records Center for storage and

subsequently destroyed two years after the informal complaint was closed.
Accordingly, the documentation submitted by Mr. Rabon was destroyed in
1995 in accordance with the PACA Branch's records retention schedule.

However, we will stay this proceeding for a period not to exceed sixty (60)

days from the date of this order as it relates to Mr. Rabon's claim in order to
afford complainant the opportunity to resubmit Mr. Rabon's documents to the
PACA Branch, if it chooses to do so, in order to determine the extent of his
individual damages.

As to the issuc of Mr. Byrd, Mr. Chaplin and Mr. Gaskins, all of whom

have assigned their rights to complainant 4, we must determine if complainant
has submitted sufficient evidence to carry its burden of proving the extent of

their damages. All three were members of the cooperative and claim to have
sold produce through respondent. These persons were present at the hearing
and thus in the best position to represent their own interests. Although we

think ample evidence exists to show a violation on respondent's part, none of
the parties was able to provide a reasonable means by which to determine
their damages. Complainant submitted no evidence other than copies from
a receiving book that purports to show the produce which respondent did not
account for and which was not taken into account by the PACA auditor.

4Mr.Byrd,Mr. Chaplinand Mr. Gaskinsrepresented to the PresidingOfficerat the hearing
that each one wishedto assigntheir right to pursuea claimagainstrespondent to complainant.
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However, complainant has not provided any evidence as to the exact amounts
of produce supplied by each person or the specific disagreements that it had
with respondent's methods of accounting.

We cannot use respondent's accounting as a basis for determining damages
since those records are unreliable and incomplete. For instance, Mr. Chaplin
asserts that respondent sold its produce yet respondent's records do not list

Mr. Chaplin as a grower. Mr. Chaplin asserts that he supplied produce in
conjunction with Mr. Teddcr who is listed on respondent's accounting sheet
(Tr. at 161, 244-248). Wc have reviewed the files submitted by respondent
which are arranged by grower. There is no file for Chaplin/Tedder but there
is a file for Tedder. Ms. Calandro stated that she kept a separate cash file for
the Chaplin/Tedder account which was not included in the evidence submitted

(Tr. at 257). We cannot say with any certainty that the produce accounted for
in respondent's file includes Mr. Chaplin's produce.

We cannot use the PACA audit results to determine the damages for any
of the three growers since there is no way to determine which portion of the
$35,000.00, if any, was due to those persons. In addition, we cannot determine

if the records submitted by complainant to account for the missing produce
actually was not taken into consideration by the PACA auditor. We simply
cannot engage in speculation in determining damages.

Therefore, we conclude that complainant has not met its burden of proving
the extent of damages incurred by Mr. Byrd, Mr. Chaplin and Mr. Chaplin as
a result of respondent's violations. Accordingly, we cannot grant recovery to
complainant on behalf of these individuals. The complaint as it relates to Mr.
Byrd, Mr. Chaplin and Mr. Gaskins is hereby dismissed against respondent.

Respondent has alleged that Mr. Byrd owes it $651.51 according to its
accounting records. Since we have previously determined that the records

submitted by respondent are unreliable and incomplete, we will certainly not
rely on it to grant respondent any recovery from this particular individual.

Therefore, we conclude that respondent has not carried the burden of proving
that Mr. Byrd owes it any amount of money based on harvest advances.
Respondent has not specifically alleged that Mr. Chaplin or Mr. Gaskins owe
any money to it for harvest advances so we need not address the issue in

relation to these growers. Respondent's request for set-off as it relates to

these three growers is hereby denied_
The only issue left for resolution is whether the respondent is liable to

complainant for any further co-op fees than have been previously remitted by
complainant. As stated previously, the co-op fees were computed from the
sales proceeds generated from the individual growers. The co-op was to
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receive 5% of the sales proceeds from its members and 10% of the sales

proceeds from the non-members. The complainant has not specified the
amount of co-op fees alleged to be owed to it. The PACA audit found that
the cooperative was due at least $3,731.43 in co-op fees based on the
$36,487.88 found to be owing to the growers. However, we cannot base

recovery on the PACA audit since it is first necessary to conclude that the
figures contained in the audit are an adequate representation of the amounts
due to the growers.

Our previous discussion sets forth our determination that the cooperative
cannot represent the growers' interests in this proceeding due to lack of
standing. Accordingly, we cannot make a determination that the respondent
owes the growers the amount found in the audit. However, respondent's
answer admits to owing the cooperative $2,825.50 in co-op fees after taking
into account a previous payment made to the cooperative amounting to
$238.60. Therefore, based on respondent's own admission, we find that

respondent is liable to complainant in the amount of $2,825.50 in co-op fees.
Complainant has also alleged that respondent increased its packing charges

without providing proper notice to the cooperative and without obtaining

approval to increase the charges. The contract states:

After 45 days of operation Sun Valley plans to run a cost analysis of
packing costs and may adjust charges not to exceed thirty-five cents
($.35) per carton if this is necessary to operate profitably. Any
adjustment will be done with full notice to Pee Dee Co-op and its
members with documentation and the adjusted price must be within

industry averages.

Respondent contends that the contract did not require them to give
complainant 45 days advance notice that the charges may be increased nor
was it required to obtain the approval of complainant prior to increasing the

charges. There was a great deal of testimony on this issue (See Tr. at p. 99-
125).

Complainant admits that there is no provision requiring that it be given 45
days advance notice of the increase although it is of the opinion that the
contract implies that it will be given advance notice. Complainant also
concedes that the contract does not specifically require its approval prior to

increasing the charges although it feels that approval is implied. None of the
representatives could provide definite testimony as to whether board of
directors and the members received copies of the packing charge increases.
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Mr. Byrd and Mr. Chaplin testified that neither could recall receiving the
information. Mr. Gaskins testified that he does not believe that he was a

member at that point in time such that he would not have received a copy (Tr.
at 99-125).

Neither of the three representatives testified with any degree of certainty
that the other board members and members did not receive copies of the
packing charge increases. They can only speak for themselves which is not
sufficient for evidentiary purposes since it does not establish that notice was
not provided in accordance with the contract.

The complainant was responsible for drafting the contract and as such

could have specifically provided for those provisions that it seeks to impose by
implication. Complainant chose not to do so and cannot complain about it
now. Complainant cannot produce any evidence to show that the increases
imposed by respondent were not within the industry averages as required by
the contract. We find that the contract does require full notice to the
cooperative of increases in packing charges but does not require respondent
to obtain approval prior to increasing the packing charges.

In addition, we are persuaded that notice of those increased charges were
provided to the cooperative and the members in accordance with the

contractual provision. We find no evidence to show that respondent increased
its packing charges beyond the industry averages since we have no industry
averages in evidence to compare with respondent's packing charges.
Complainant has not carried the burden of proving that respondent increased

its packing charges beyond industry averages and without obtaining approval
from cooperative prior to increased those charges.

Respondent raised a side issue which we find necessary to address.
Respondent alleges that the contract between complainant and respondent was
not valid due to the fact that there was a contractual provision which required
complainant to obtain approval of the contract in its entirety by the Pee Dee
Regional Development Center. Respondent contends that such approval was
never obtained and complainant does not deny that it did not obtain any
written approval from Pee Dee Regional Development Center (Tr. at 96-99).

We have reviewed the pertinent contractual provision and there is no
language which states that the validity of the contract is conditioned upon
obtaining this approval. Therefore, we conclude that the fact that complainant
has not shown that it obtained such approval does not invalidate the contract
between the parties.

To sum up the conclusions reached in this decision, we find the following:
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1) Complainant, in its capacity as a cooperative, has not satisfied the
prerequisites set forth by the Supreme Court for establishing
associational standing to initiate a reparation case on behalf of
members and non-members who sold produce through respondent;

2) Complainant has not obtained effective written assignment of rights
from any of the mcmbers or non-members involved except Garner
Rabon such that it can pursue a reparation complaint against
respondent on behalf of those persons;

3) Respondent violated section 2(4) of the Act and the applicable
regulations pertaining to growers' agents and the dumping of produce;

4) Complainant does have the right to pursue the claim of Garner Rabon
who effectively assigned his rights to complainant;

5) The proceeding will be stayed only as to Mr. Rabon for a period not
to exceed sixty (60) days from the date of the order in order to allow

complainant to resubmit Mr. Rabon's documentation regarding his
individual claim to determine if it is possible to determine more

accurately the extent of his damages as a result of respondent's
violations;

6) Mr. Byrd, Mr. Chaplin and Mr. Gaskins have provided sufficient
evidence to show that they have assigned their claims to complainant
to pursue in the reparation case;

7) Complainant has not carried the burden of proving thc extent of
damages suffered by either of these three individuals ;

8) Respondent has not carried the burden of proving that it is entitled to
recover sums of monies alleged to be owing from Mr. Byrd, Mr.
Chaplin or Mr. Gaskins based on its allegation that these individuals
were provided with harvest advances which were not repaid;

9) Respondent has admitted to owing the cooperative $2,825.50 in co-op
fees and thus is liable to complainant for this amount;

10) Complainant has not proven that respondent improperly increased
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its packing charges in violation of the terms of the parties' contract;
and

11) Respondent has not proven that complainant's failure to obtain
approval of the contract from Pee Dee Regional Development
Center rendered the parties' contract invalid.

Respondent's failure to pay the $2,825.50 to complainant is a violation of

section 2 for which reparation should be awarded. Section 5(a) of the Act
requires that we award to the person or persons injured by a violation of

section 2 of the Act "the full amount of damages sustained in consequence of
such violations." Such damages include interest. Louisville & Nashville
Railroad Co. v. Sloss Sheffield Co., 269 U.S. 217 (1925); Louisville & Nashville

Railroad Co. v. Ohio Valley Tie Co., 242 U.S. 288 (1916). Since the Secretary
is charged with the duty of awarding damages, he also has the duty, where
appropriate, to award interest at a reasonable rate as a part of each
reparation award. See Perl Grange Fntit Exchange, hw. v. Mark Bemstein Co.,

29 Agric. Dec. 978 (1970); John 141.Scherer v. Manhattan Pickle Co., 29 Agric.
Dec. 335 (1970); and W.D. Crockett v. Producers Marketing Association, Inc.,
28 Agric. Dec. 66 (1963).

Complainant filed a claim for fees and expenses incurred in connection
with the oral hearing. Fees and expenses in hearing cases will be awarded to
the extent they are reasonable. Pinto Bros. v. F. J. Bolestrieti Co., 38 Agric.
Dec. 269 (1979); Mountabz Tomatoes, h_c. v. E. Patapanian & Son, Inc., 48
Agric. Dec. 707 (1989). Normally, the prevailing party is the party in whose
favor a judgment is entered even if the party does not recover its entire claim.
Bill Offutt v. Berry, 37 Agric. Dec. 1218 (1978); Mountabz Tomatoes, blc. v. E.
Patapanian & Son, bzc., 48 Agric. Dec. 707 (1989). However, recent case
precedent dictates that in instances where a respondent successfully defends
against a large portion of the claim and an award is issued in favor of the

complainant, the respondent is deemed to the prevailing party. See M. Offutt
Co., Inc. v. Cantso Produce, hlc., 49 Agric. Dec. 596 (1990) in which an award
was issued in favor of the complainant but the respondent defended
successfully against $75,342.81 of complainant's $79,521.73 claim which made
respondent the prevailing party.

In the present case, an award for $2,825.50 is being issued in favor of
complainant but respondent has successfully defended against $32,253.69 of
the original claim of $35,079.19. Therefore, we must conclude that respondent
is the prevailing party in this case. Respondent failed to submit a timely claim
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for fees and expenses therefore none can be granted.
If a determination is made at a later date that Garner Rabon is entitled

to a specific sum of damages based on respondent's violations that significantly
exceeds the award in this case, we reserve the right to revisit the issue of

complainant's claim for fees and expenses.

Order

Within 30 days from the date of this order, respondent shall pay to
complainant, as reparation, $2,825.50, with interest thereon at the rate of 10
percent per annum, from October 1, 1993, until paid.

The proceeding is hereby stayed for a period of sixty (60) days in relation
to Garner Rabon until such time as a determination can be made as to proof
of his damages.

Copies of this order are to be served upon the parties.
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MISCELLANEOUS ORDERS

In re: POTATO SALES CO., INC., TSL TRADING, INC., d/b/a SL
INTERNATIONAL, AND EVER JUSTICE CORPORATION.
PACA Docket No. D-93-513.

Order Denying Petition to Reopen Hearing to Take Further Evidence as to
Potato Sales Co., Inc., filed January 19, 1996.

Andrew Y. Stanton, for Complainant.
Steven J. Vining, Los Angeles, CA, for Respondent.
Order issued by Michael J. Stewart, Acting Judicial Officer.

Respondent Potato Sales Co., Inc., cites the Rules of Practice Governing
Formal Adjudicatory Administrative Proceedings Instituted By The Secretary,
section 1.146(a), for authority to reopen the hearing to take further evidence.
However, the pertinent section of the Secretary's Rules of Practice, section
1.146(a)(2) (7 C.F.R. § 1.146(a)(2)), reads in pertinent part, as follows:

(2) Petition to reopen hearing. A petition to reopen a hearing to
take further evidence may be filed at any time prior to the issuance of
the decision of the Judicial Officer.

The Judicial Officer's Decision and Order herein was issued on

September 21, 1995, but, Respondent's petition was filed on November 17,
1995. Therefore, this petition is untimely, and must be denied for not
conforming to the Rules of Practice.

Moreover, even if timely filed, the petition would be denied because the

petition states no valid basis for reopening the hearing. First, Respondent's
argument that settlement negotiations were "improperly" stopped erroneously
assumes that Complainant's counsel must negotiate settlement whenever

Respondent demands it. No authority is cited for such a position; moreover,
there is no such authority. Second, as Complainant points out in its
"Opposition to the Petition to Reopen the Hearing Filed by Respondent
Potato Sales Co., Inc.," page 2 (Jan. 11, 1996), the Rules of Practice require
"a good reason why such evidence was not adduced at the hearing." I find that
Respondent provides no good reason why this matter could not have been
raised during the hearing.

Respondent's petition is denied.
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In re: JACOBSON PRODUCE, INC., AND GEORGE SAER, d/b/a G.W.

MGEORGIE" SAER CO.

PACA Docket No. D-92-555.

Modified Order and Order Lifting Stay filed April 12, 1996.

Andrew Y. Stanton, for Complainant.
Leonard Kreinees, Great Neck. NY, for Respondent.
Order issued by I4qlliamG. Jenson, Judicial Officer.

The Order previously entered in this case _ is modified in accordance with
the Joint Motion to Modify Order filed on April 12, 1996, by Complainant and

Jacobson Produce, Inc., (hereinafter Respondent), as follows:

Respondent shall pay by certified check or money order a civil penalty in
the amount of $90,000, payable to the United States Treasury. In the event

Respondent fails to pay, and the PACA Branch fails to receive, said amount
on or before April 15, 1996, a 90-day suspension of Respondent's PACA

license will take effect on April 16, 1996.

The Stay Order issued in this case pending the outcome of proceedings for

judicial review, 53 Agric. Dec. 760 (1994), is hereby lifted.
This Order shall take effect immediately.

In re: DONALD BECK.

PACA APP Docket No. 96-01.

Dismissal filed June 6, 1996.

Andrew Stanton. for Complainant.
Bart M. Botta. Newport Beach, CA, for Respondent.
Dismissal issued by Victor W. Palmer, Chief Administrative Law Judge.

The Agency in this proceeding, the PACA Branch, Fruit and Vegetable
Division, has advised that the Chief's September 25, 1995, determination has
been withdrawn.

Therefore, there is no need for this proceeding to continue and it is hereby
dismissed.

lln re Jacobson Produce, Inc., (Decision as to Jacobson Produce, Inc.), 53 Agric. Dec. 728

(1994).
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In re: DENNIS YOUNG.
PACA APP Docket No. 96-03.

Order Dismissing Petition filed July 2, 1996.

KimberlyHart,for Complainant.
Respondent,Prose.
OrderDismissingPetitionfiledJuly2, 1996.
DismissalissuedbyJames PE.Hunt,AdministrativeLaw Judge.

On August 1, 1995, the agency in this proceeding, PACA Branch, Fruit and
Vegetable Division, made the determination that the petitioner, Dennis
Young, was responsibly connected with O & J Produce Corporation, which
was a firm found to have engaged in willful, repeated, and flagrant violations
of the PACA.

On April 23, 1996, petitioner filed a petition for review of the agency's
determination, contending that he was not responsibly connected with O & J
Produce Corporation.

On June 28, 1996, the agency filed a motion to dismiss the proceeding on
the ground that it had withdrawn its determination that petitioner was
responsibly connected with O & J Produce Corporation.

Accordingly, as there is no determination that petitioner was responsibly
connected with O & J Produce Corporation, his petition for review is
dismissed.
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CONSENT DECISIONS

(Not publishedherein-Editor)

Double B Ouality Produce, Inc. PACA Docket No. D-95-518. 1/29/96.

Coexport International, Inc. PACA Docket No. D-95-535. 4/19/96.

Sun Valley Produce, Inc. PACA Docket No. D-95-512. 4/26/96.

Josephine D. Nichols d/b/a Red Bird Produce Co. and Red Bird Produce
Co., a partnership composed of Josephine D. Nichols and William R. Nichols.
PACA Docket Nos. D-94-569 and D-95-536. 5/17/96.

Vessecchia Wholesale Produce, Inc. PACA Docket No. D-96-504. 7/2/96.




